
 

Page 1 of 3 

 

 

 

 

 
City Council Workshop & Meeting   

June 5, 2017 
Agenda 

 
                                                                                                                
5:30 P.M.  Workshop  

A. Creative Crosswalks – Doug Greene (30 minutes) 
B. Property Abatement – Karen Scammon (15 minutes) 
C. AG Study RFP (Request for Proposal) results – Doug Greene (10 minutes) 
D. 477 Minot Avenue TIF and HOME Funds Request – Michael Chammings (15 minutes) 
E. Funding of the New Auburn Village Improvement – Michael Chammings (10 minutes) 

 
7:00 P.M.  City Council Meeting  
 
Roll call votes will begin with Councilor Pross 
 
Pledge of Allegiance   

I. Consent Items – All items listed with an asterisk (*) are considered as routine and will be approved in 
one motion.   There will be no separate discussion of these items unless a Councilor or citizen so 
requests.  If requested, the item will be removed from the consent agenda and considered in the order it 
appears on the agenda.   

 
1. Order 41-06052017*  

Appointing Wardens and Ward Clerks for the June 13, 2017 Election. 
 

2. Order 42-06052017*  
Approving the Omni Circle Property Sale. 
 

3. Resolve 02-06052017*  
Supporting staffs pursuit of the Northern Borders Regional Commission Grant. 
 

4. Order 43-06052017*  
Adopting the 911 Fund Balance Policy. 
 

5. Order 44-06052017*  
Approving the appointment of City Manager, Peter Crichton, as alternate to Councilor Titus on the 
AVCOG Executive Committee. 
 

II.          Minutes  

 May 15, 2017 Regular Council Meeting  
 

 



 

Page 2 of 3 

 

III. Communications, Presentations and Recognitions 

 Communications – Liberty Festival Mass Gathering/Special Event Application 

IV. Open Session – Members of the public are invited to speak to the Council about any issue directly 
related to City business which is not on this agenda.   

                                      
V.          Unfinished Business - None 

 
VI.      New Business 
 
1. Order 45-06052017  

Authorizing the Finance Director to execute the issuance of general obligation bonds and a tax levy 

therefore. Proposed budget review by the City Manager, public hearing and first reading. Passage 
requires an affirmative vote of 5 Councilors at the second and final reading. 
 

2. Order 46-06052017  
Reallocation of bonds. Public hearing and first reading. Passage requires an affirmative vote of 5 
Councilors at the second and final reading. 
 

3. Order 47-06052017  
Authorizing the use of other funds for the CIP.  Passage requires an affirmative vote of 4 Councilors . 

 
4. Resolve 03-06052017  

Adopting the Appropriations Resolve for Fiscal Year 2018. Public hearing and first reading. 
Passage requires an affirmative vote of 4 Councilors at the second and final reading. 
 

5. Ordinance 06-06052017  
Adopting the AG text amendment for sales, service complimentary to outdoor recreation. Public hearing 
and first reading.  Passage requires an affirmative vote of 4 Councilors at the second and final reading. 

 
VII. Reports 
  

a. Mayor’s Report  

b. City Councilors’ Reports   

c. City Manager Report  

VIII.      Open Session - Members of the public are invited to speak to the Council about any issue directly related 
to City business which is not on this agenda. 
 

IX. Executive Session  

 Discussion regarding economic development (New Auburn Project), pursuant to 1 M.R.S.A. 
§405(6)(C) with possible action to follow. 

 
X. Adjournment 

 
Executive Session:  On occasion, the City Council discusses matters which are required or allowed by State law to be considered in executive 
session.  Executive sessions are not open to the public.  The matters that are discussed in executive session are required to be kept confidential 
until they become a matter of public discussion.  In order to go into executive session, a Councilor must make a motion in public.  The motion 



 

Page 3 of 3 

 

must be recorded, and 3/5 of the members of the Council must vote to go into executive session.  An executive session is not required to be 
scheduled in advance as an agenda item, although when it is known at the time that the agenda is finalized, it will be listed on the agenda. The 
only topics which may be discussed in executive session are those that fall within one of the categories set forth in Title 1 M.R.S.A. Section 
405(6).  Those applicable to municipal government are: 

A. Discussion of personnel issues 
B. Discussion or consideration by a school board of suspension of expulsion 
C. Discussion or consideration of the condition, acquisition or the use of real or personal property permanently attached to real 

property or interests therein or disposition of publicly held property or economic development only if premature disclosure of the 
information would prejudice the competitive or bargaining position of the body or agency   

D. Labor contracts 
E. Contemplated litigation 
F. Discussion of information contained in records made, maintained or received by a body or agency when access by the general public 

to those records is prohibited by statute; 
G. Discussion or approval of the content of examinations administered by a body or agency for licensing, permitting or employment 

purposes; consultation between a body or agency and any entity that provides examination services to that body or agency regarding 
the content of an examination; and review of examinations with the person examined; and 

H. Consultation between municipal officers and a code enforcement officer representing the municipality pursuant to Title 30-A, section 
4452, subsection 1, paragraph in the prosecution of an enforcement matter pending in District Court when the consultation relates to 
that pending enforcement matter.  



 

 
 
 

City of Auburn 
City Council Information Sheet 

 
Council Workshop or Meeting Date:  6-5-2017       
 
Author:  Eric J. Cousens, Deputy Director of Economic and Community Development 
 

Subject:  Creative Crosswalk Policy 
 

Information:  The Complete Streets Committee has recommended that the City adopt a policy regarding 
creative crosswalks.  Creative crosswalks are used in downtown environments to create a unique sense of 
place, to express some local personality or highlight a local interest.  Creating a unique sense of place for a 
given location is a component of revitalizing many successful downtowns.  Creative crosswalks are unique and 
do not meet standard engineering designs which is the root of common opposition or reluctance to 
implement them.  Many communities across the country have successfully installed creative crosswalks and 
they have been safely used.  The proposed policy appears to be thoughtfully crafted and limits creative 
crosswalks to local streets which typically have less traffic and less risk for trying something unconventional.  
The policy also sets design standards that allow for creativity but still require standard elements to limit risk 
(see attached complete Streets Excerpt for High Visibility Crosswalks).   If used on local streets they can still be 
visible from a higher traffic route and still help expose the sense of unique place that they intend to promote.   
 
As noted in the policy, the review process includes consideration for increased maintenance costs to be paid 
for by the applicant or the crosswalks would be restriped conventionally the following year.  The current 
Neighborhood Challenge Grant program could be used for infrastructure projects like this.  Alternatively, if the 
Council wanted to fund a limited pilot for creative crosswalks, maintaining a reasonable creative crosswalk 
could be in the range of $1,000 to $3000 per year as opposed to a few hundred dollars for restriping a 
traditional crosswalk.   

 
 

Advantages:  Helps create a unique sense of place and allows citizens to express themselves.   
 
Disadvantages: Potential Costs and limited risk of doing something that is not included in standard 
engineering design manuals.   

 
City Budgetary Impacts: None, unless the Council chooses to fund a limited pilot project.   

 
Staff Recommended Action:  Discuss the policy and instruct staff to edit or schedule for adoption.   

 
Previous Meetings and History: August 15, 2016 Mayors Report and Open Session Comments, Complete 
Streets Committee 

 
Attachments: Draft Creative Crosswalk Guidelines (5/10/2017), Creative Crosswalk Memo from the Mayor 
(August 2016), Excerpt from Complete Streets BMPs: High Visibility Crosswalks, Images of creative crosswalks 
in other places.   



Creative Crosswalk Guidelines
5/10/2017

Purpose and Goal

The Cities of Auburn and Lewiston support locally driven efforts to add beauty and creativity to our 

community.  One of the ways to achieve this goal is through a process of thoughtfully located and 

appropriately designed creative crosswalks.  The goal of this policy is to work with the community to 

install safe, cost effective and low maintenance creative crosswalks to enhance and enliven existing 

crosswalks.

Application Procedure and Guidelines

1. Requests for a creative crosswalk shall be considered on a case-by-case basis.  

Creative crosswalks must conform to the following criteria:

◦ Crosswalk location must be across a local street

◦ Crosswalk must be controlled by a stop sign, traffic signal, or pedestrian signal

◦ Crosswalk design must be applied with a stencil that can be held by the city

◦ Crosswalk design should conform to high-visibility crosswalk guidelines provided in 

Complete Streets: A Guide to Best Management and Design Practice

◦ Paint materials must meet appropriate standards for durability and slip-resistance 

◦ Crosswalk installation shall be paid for by the applicant

▪ City will determine level of annual maintenance required to preserve the  

crosswalk

▪ Crosswalks that require special maintenance costs will be covered by applicant

▪ Crosswalks will return to standard design in the absence of funding for special 

maintenance

2. A written request for the creation of a creative crosswalk shall be submitted to the city's 

Community and Economic Development Department.  The request should specify:

◦ Applicant's Name, Contact Information, Organization Affiliation

◦ Location for proposed crosswalk

◦ Design for proposed crosswalk

◦ Resources to implement the project, including design, production of stencil, and funding 

for materials and labor to create and maintain it

3. Community and Economic Development staff will share the proposal with the appropriate staff 

and committees, including the city engineer.

4. The city engineer shall review the proposal and respond to the applicant regarding the details of 

the request, including the projected cost to create and maintain crosswalk.

5. Upon the engineer's conclusion that the proposal meets the approved criteria for a creative high 

visibility crosswalk, the project may be implemented. 

6. Proposals may be forwarded to the *Complete Streets Committee for input as needed.

*Pending the final creation and appointment of the Complete Streets Committee, the LA Bicycle 

Pedestrian Committee will perform this role.



City of Auburn, Maine 

 Office of the Mayor 
 www.auburnmaine.gov  |  60 Court Street  
 Auburn, Maine 04210  
 207.333.6601 ext. 1216 
 

  

Page 1 of 2 

 

August 15, 2016 
 
RE: Creative Crosswalk Policy Concept 
 
Members of the City Council: 
 
My apologies for missing the last business meeting due to a planned vacation, however I wish to 
bring back to you the subject of implementing “creative crosswalks” in our city and a policy and 
process by which we can do that. 
 
This concept first emerged earlier this year when several residents of New Auburn requested the 
right to paint dining utensils in New Auburn to recognize the growing food businesses there.  After 
the City of Bangor painted a rainbow colored crosswalk, residents reached out to me to ask about 
implementing that in Auburn, and I sent that request along to city management. 
 
Unfortunately, what I saw in the City Council packet following my vacation was very little research 
and no formal recommendation on the pros and cons of implementing what hundreds of cities and 
towns across this country and done.  In fact, it was clear from news reports that staff were actively 
lobbying from doing anything.  The lack of details in the City Council packet demonstrates that lack of 
interest.  In our form of government, staff offer advice, but the decision rests with the City Council, 
but the Council still needs well-reasoned and researched advice, not copies of news articles and 
screenshots of website. 
 
Included in this packet from me are a number of documents that help to inform the recommendation 
at the conclusion.  These documents include: 

 A copy of the April 25th, 2016 memo from Lewiston city staff to their City Council requesting 
authorization for a pilot program for creative crosswalks 

 A copy of a June 15th memo from Bangor’s Downtown Coordinator to their City Council 
Government Operations Committee requesting support for a creative crosswalk. 

 A copy of the Austin, Texas “Creative Crosswalk Guidelines” 

 A copy of the Santa Monica, California “Creative Crosswalk Pilot” call for designers, including 
guidelines for staying within regulatory parameters. 

 A copy of the Lompoc, California City Council agenda item in support of creative crosswalks, 
including details for how staff recommended addressing safety concerns will advancing 
project. 

 A copy of the Springfield, Illinois “Creative Crosswalks – Call for Artists” for this current year as 
well as detailed design specifications. 

 A copy of the Glenwood South Neighborhood Collaborative’ s announcement of a creative 
crosswalk project and guidelines established for a review committee and call for artists. 



City of Auburn, Maine 

 Office of the Mayor 
 www.auburnmaine.gov  |  60 Court Street  
 Auburn, Maine 04210  
 207.333.6601 ext. 1216 
 

  

Page 2 of 2 

 

Mayor’s Recommendation to proceed with Creative Crosswalks: 

 Limit the types of streets in Auburn eligible for a creative crosswalk: 
o Street types include Principal Arterials (like Center Street or sections of Court Street), 

Minor Arterials (like Main Street), Collectors (like Hampshire Street or Broad Street), 
Local Roads (like Pleasant or Third). 

o Lower order streets like Collectors and Local Roads focus more on the multiple types 
of local users and local access to the community.  Beginning with a pilot limited to 
these types of streets should alleviate concerns about driver distraction on higher 
speed and higher volume roads. 

o This could include crosswalks parallel arterials, but not crossing an arterial. 
 

 Limit where on a street a creative crosswalk could be installed: 
o Midblock crosswalks often lack appropriate signage and lighting for pedestrians, 

focusing at end of block crosswalks where stop signs and other pedestrian warning 
signage exists would also mitigate concerns about safety and distraction, and focus on 
areas of higher pedestrian use. 

 

 Request that the Bike-Ped Committee review at its next meeting and send a recommendation 
to the Transportation and Environment Committee for guidelines for creative crosswalks, 
based on the best practices including in the documents I’ve attached.  This will ensure our 
specialized committee on pedestrian matters has reviewed it, and that our City Council 
committee on transportation workshops it and sends a recommendation back to the full city 
council. 
 

 Funding for a pilot program, if limited to the CDBG target areas and/or the Downtown TIF 
District, would not be an issue.  My recommendation would be to allocate $1,000 for 
materials for a creative crosswalk in each of the three target areas.  We would then encourage 
applications from those neighborhoods for a creative crosswalk (similar to what New Auburn 
volunteers had already done).  Labor would be no cost additional cost as the Council would 
direct this to be a priority with existing staffing. 

o If the Council wished to authorize additional crosswalks if materials were funded by a 
third party, we could consider a spring RFP and limit the number of crosswalks that 
would be authorized and seek to have  a committee score proposals for 
implementation. 

 

 While we have lost this year for implementing, a City Council directive to move this 
recommendation forward would ensure spring 2017 implementation and continuity annually 
moving forward. 



39Complete Streets Best Practice Management Guide   ·  Best Practices

High-Visibility Crosswalk

1 2

3

Walking
Solid

Ladder

Continental

min. 8' setback min. 8' setback

min. 8' setback

min. 6' width, 8'-10' preferred min. 6' width, 8'-10' preferred

min. 6' width, 8'-10' preferred 4 Art

min. 8' setback

min. 6' width, 8'-10' preferred



40 Complete Streets Best Practice Management Guide Best Practices

High-visibility crosswalks use a variety of striping patterns, or 
contrasting pavement treatments, to significantly increase the 
visibility of a crosswalk to oncoming traffic. Conventional crosswalk 
markings consist of two parallel lines. However, an FHWA study 
found that continental (longitudinal stripes) markings were 
detected at about twice the distance upstream as the transverse 
markings during daytime conditions. In the study, this increased 
distance meant that drivers traveling at 30 mph had 8 additional 
seconds of awareness of crossing pedestrians. In some instances, 
"art crosswalks" include integrated colors, textures, and/or scoring 
patterns that may be instituted within existing, approved crosswalk 
markings. 

Application
High-visibility crosswalks should be applied to controlled and select 
uncontrolled intersections with known conflicts between vehicular 
and pedestrian movements, areas with high volumes of foot traffic 
(like commercial business districts, college campuses, employment 
hubs), at mid-block crossings, and along and across high-volume 
roads. 

Design Guidance
Many high-visibility crosswalk striping patterns exist, such as those 
depicted on the previous page. High-visibility crosswalks can also be 
implemented using different surface materials, like stamped asphalt 
or real brick to provide further contrast between the pedestrian 
crossing space and vehicular travel lanes. Brightly-colored "art" 
patterns may be applied to crosswalks so long as the pattern occurs 
between two standard transverse crosswalk markings. 

Maintenance
Longitudinal lines, like those of the ladder and continental pattern, 
are more costly to stripe than two simple transverse lines found in a 
conventional crosswalk. However, the increased visibility and safety 
of pedestrians in conjunction with longer-lasting, high-visibility 
crosswalk marking materials — like plastic or epoxy material 
embedded with reflective glass beads — are a better value over 
time, as they require less maintenance. Crosswalks that include 
alternative paving materials may require additional maintenance 
to ensure a high-quality, high-visibility walking experience is 
maintained. For communities in northern climates, like Lewiston-
Auburn, recessed pavement markings combined with long-lasting 
treatments may stretch maintenance budgets further.  

Crosswalks should not be less than 6 feet wide, according to the 
MUTCD's basic standards. Longitudinal lines should be 12-24 inches 
wide, spaced 12 - 36 inches apart. All crosswalks should be brought 
into ADA compliance as they are upgraded or re-striped. Marked 
crosswalks generally should be designed to minimize crossing 
distances and should be straight and in-line with the sidewalk ramps 
to make crossing easier for children and adults with visual and/or 
physical impairments. 



Creative Crosswalk Examples 

 



 
 
 
 

City of Auburn 
City Council Information Sheet 

 
 

 

Council Workshop or Meeting Date:  June 5, 2017      
 
Author: Karen Scammon, CMA Assessor, City of Auburn 
 

 

Subject:  Abatement Request, Jeremy Bennett, 78/50 Beaver Road  
 
Information:  A property tax abatement is recommended by the Assessing Office for overvaluation due to an error in 
title. The nature of abatement requires approval by the City Council. 

 
Advantages:  Corrects parcel assessment. 
 
 
Disadvantages: None. 

 
City Budgetary Impacts: Minor, overall recommended abatement less than $700. 

 
Staff Recommended Action: Grant abatements, see details in memo 

 
Previous Meetings and History: None.  

 
Attachments: 1) Outline memo, explains request history and details. 2) Parcel maps (corrected and “as assessed”) 



1 | P a g e  
 

Bennett-78 Beaver Road  

 

Mr. Jeremy Bennett owns the vacant parcel situated at 78 Beaver Road in Auburn identified on 

Auburn tax maps as 389-041-001. The parcel is the result of a split which occurred when Mr. Bennett 

sold his property at 50 Beaver Road, tax map 389 lot 041, in August 2013. Map 389 lot 041 was assessed 

as a 19.83 acre parcel improved with a single family dwelling. Mr. Bennett sold the house with 8.39 

acres and believed he retained an 11.44 acre vacant parcel. In March of 2017 he provided the Assessing 

Department with a recent survey of the vacant parcel, map 389 lot 041-001.  Upon being presented the 

survey and doing further research, it was determined Mr. Bennett owned a 2.05 acre parcel and his 

neighbor, located at 128 Beaver Road, owned the remaining 9.39 acres. As such revisions to the tax map 

and assessment are warranted. Below are parcel sketches showing the parcel as assessed and corrected 

(Fig 1-2). 

 

Figure 1: 389-041-001 Parcel prior to 
corrections 
 

Figure 2: 389-041-001 - Corrected parcel map 
(corrected boundary lines are shown in red) 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



2 | P a g e  
 

 

2015 – Jeremy Bennett Abatement, 78 Beaver Road 

The parcel was split from Map 389 lot 041 after April 1, 2014 and was assessed as a separate 

parcel as of April 1, 2015.  

The following is the reconciled assessment for the 2015 (April 1, 2015) tax year:  

Map 389 
      Lot 041-001  Total Ac 

Land 
Assessed 

 2015 assessment 11.44 58,100 
 Corrected 

assessment 2.05 47,600 
 Difference 9.39 10,500 
 

    2015 Tax Dollars $223.13 based on 2015mil rate 21.25 
 

2014 – Jeremy Bennett Abatement, 50 Beaver Road 

Prior to the parcel split, the subject was part of the parent lot shown on the tax maps as parcel 

389-041 with a street address of 50 Beaver Road. This parent lot was formerly owned by Mr. Bennett 

and included a single family dwelling.  The land area was identified as a 19.82 acres parcel and was 

assessed at $74,300 (land only).  

According to the survey and subsequent research the parcel was determined to be 10.43 acres.  

The following is the reconciled assessment for the 2014 (April 1, 2014) tax year: 

Map 389 Lot 41  Total Ac 
Land 

Assessed 
 2014 assessment 19.82 74,300 
 Corrected 

assessment 10.43 63,500 
 Difference 9.39 10,800 
 

    2014 Tax Dollars $226.26 based on 2014 mil rate 20.95 
 

Abatement Summary 

In summary, we have concluded abatements for an error in title for the 9.39 acres assessed to 

Mr. Jeremy Bennet, actually owned by Janet and William Randall, are warranted and support the 

abatement requests made by Mr. Bennett in the following amounts;  

 2014 –$226.26 

 2015 - $232.58  



 

 
 
 

City of Auburn 
City Council Information Sheet 

 

Council Workshop or Meeting Date:   June 5, 2017       
 
Author:  Doug Greene, Urban Development Specialist, Economic and Community Development 
 

Subject:  Response to Council Directive to Release RFP for AGRP Study  
 

Information:  At the November 7, 2016 City Council meeting, a motion to fund $40,000 towards a study of 
Auburn’s Agricultural District failed to get a second.  Consequently, a motion was made and passed 5-1 to direct 
Staff to release an RFP seeking proposals for the study but not to authorize funding.  The Staff prepared and 
released an RFP and received 2 proposals, one from Small Fish Consultants for ($39,067) and the other from 
Crossroads Resource Center ($50,695).  The Staff is ready to present the proposals to the City Council. 
 The Staff reviewed the 2 proposals and ranked them according to the scoring criteria contained in the RFP.  
Both proposers met the submission requirements of the RFP as well as the scope of work.  Crossroads Resource 
Center was clearly the better proposal.  The scoring was SmallFish – 75 and Crossroads Resource Center – 90.  
The Staff score sheet is attached.   
 Ken Meter and Megan Phillips Goldenberg, the consultants for Crossroads Research Center have assisted 
numerous local food systems in 126 regions in 39 states.  They are currently working in Maine helping the 
Cumberland County/Portland area develop a food hub program.  Just as important, is their understanding of the 
“five-decade success in protecting (Auburn’s) farmland…..We are even more impressed that the City is reaching 
out for additional expertise to assist as it adapts to a new era in agriculture.”  In addition to their very strong 
body of work and deep understanding of the challenges of farming, they also “understand there have been 
concerns in the community regarding bringing in outside consultants for what is often perceived as a local 
matter....we find this situation ripe for a neutral party who can accept all viewpoints fairly.” (page 1 of proposal)  

 
Advantages:  Crossroads Research Center has submitted a proposal that will meet the scope and goals of the 
Study to Enhance Auburn’s Agricultural and Resource Sector.  The Agriculture and Resource Protection District 
has tremendous potential to expand agricultural and resource production but needs to be evaluated to fully 
realize that potential.  
Disadvantages:  The timing of the outreach to land owners and farmers needs to better coincide with their 
traditional “down” time in late fall and winter.   

 
City Budgetary Impacts: The proposal recommended by Staff would require $40,695 in city funding that would 
be supplemented by the Environmental Funder’s Network contribution of $10,000. 

 
Staff Recommended Action: Staff recommends accepting the Crossroad Research Center proposal and funding 
the proposal for a total cost of $50,695. 

 
Previous Meetings and History:  The City Council directed Staff to develop a Study of the AGRP District back in 
2015.  The proposed study has been discussed periodically by the Council since then in 2016 and now in 2017. 

 
Attachments: 1.) Council minutes from 11/7/16, 2.) RFP for a “Study to Enhance Auburn’s Agricultural and 
Resource Sector”, 3. ) Proposal from SmallFish, 4.) Proposal from Crossroads Research Center, 5.) Staff scoring  





































  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Eric Cousens, Project Lead 
Deputy Director, Economic and Community Development 
60 Court Street 
Auburn, ME  04210 
 
April 14, 2014 
 
Dear Eric:  

Thank you for the opportunity to submit the attached proposal for consulting services for the City of Auburn 

“Study to Support and Enhance Auburn’s Agricultural and Resource Sector” Bid # 2017-027.   As described in the 

RFP, the primary goal of this study is to work with the Auburn community and stakeholders in developing 

credible information that can inform policies, regulations and public investments that support the city’s 

agricultural heritage, protect the natural beauty of its land and promote locally grown food, raising livestock, 

managing forests and natural resource-based businesses.   

Our experience includes:  

● Stakeholder Engagement Processes 
● Focus Groups and Stakeholder Interviews 
● Strategic Planning 
● Survey Research 
● Large and small group facilitation, including public forums 
● Project Design & Management 
● White Papers 

 

The proposed Scope of Work and Services is based on our understanding of your organization’s needs from the 

materials shared during this process. We welcome the opportunity to discuss how we can tailor these to meet 

your unique goals. 

 

For further information, please contact me at (207) 592-4369 or tanya@smallfishcg.com. 

 

Very sincerely, 

 

 

 

Tanya Swain 

Producing results that last and solutions that matter. 

Tanya Swain & Tricia Cook, Principals 

www.smallfishcg.com 
207-592-4369  

207-500-2461 

 



 

 

 

City of Auburn 

Study to Support and Enhance Auburn’s  

Agricultural and Resource Sector 
Bid # 2017-027 

 

PROPOSAL FOR SERVICES 

 

SUBMITTED BY 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SmallFish Consulting Group 
PO Box 303, Farmington, ME 04938 

Contact:  Tanya Swain  |   (207) 592-4369  |  tanya@smallfishcg.com 

 

April 14, 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

mailto:tanya@smallfishcg.com


 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 

Company Profile 

  
2 

Project Team 
 

2 

Experience & Qualifications 

 
3 

Project Statement of Purpose 

 
3 

Scope of Work 

 
4 

Project Timeline 

 
4 

Fee Compensation 

 
8 

References 

 
9 

 
 

 
 

 
             
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



2 | P a g e  
 

COMPANY PROFILE 

Tanya Swain & Tricia Cook have been colleagues for over 12 years. Together they managed Western 
Mountains Alliance, a nonprofit organization supporting economic and community development 
projects in four counties in western Maine. In 2014, they launched Small Fish Consulting Group, LLC to 
meet the needs of organizations, government agencies and businesses for organizational development 
and project support.  The company’s principals operate primarily from home office space in Farmington 
and Livermore Falls with access to meeting space on an as needed basis at 165 Front Street in 
Farmington. 
 
SmallFish Consulting Group provides organizational development, strategic planning, project 
management and implementation support and its principals have experience conducting participatory 
planning processes, survey research and stakeholder interviews and analysis. While the company has 
worked with organizations ranging from waste management to faith-based groups, its principals have 
extensive experience working with agricultural and natural-resourced based businesses and 
organizations. With two decades shared experience working in numerous communities, the company’s 
principals appreciate from a practitioner’s vantage point that every project and challenge has its own 
unique nuances specific to culture and place.   
 
The company’s business mailing address is PO Box 303, Farmington, ME  04938 and more information 
can be found on the organization at www.smallfishcg.com. 

 

 

PROJECT TEAM 

Tanya Swain has spent over 15 years working in the nonprofit sector and brings extensive experience 
with project design, management and implementation. In addition to her work with SmallFish 
Consulting Group, she currently serves as project director for the Maine Food Strategy, a grassroots food 
systems initiative that recently published the Maine Food Strategy Framework: A Tool for Advancing 
Maine’s Food System.  Tanya’s previous experience includes serving as the executive director of the 
Western Mountains Alliance where she coordinated a regional public forum series, facilitated a county 
agricultural task force and, with colleague, Tricia Cook, developed a program that helped launch some of 
the state’s first virtual markets for farm products.  She resides in Farmington and holds a Masters in 
Public Policy and Management from the University of Southern Maine. 
 
Tricia Cook came to community and economic development through her work in family literacy and 
adult education.  Her experience includes citizen-based economic revitalization efforts, farm work and 
coordination of a mobile farmers’ market (The Good Food Bus). Before launching SmallFish Consulting 
Group, she was a program coordinator at the Western Mountains Alliance where she administered and 
created training materials for Get Fresh Net, a soup to nuts training program that helped groups of 
consumers and farmers build online farm markets and buying clubs and develop related governance 
systems to manage these markets over time. She holds a B.A. in Women Studies and a B.S. in Public 
Administration. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

http://www.smallfishcg.com/


 

3 | P a g e  
 

EXPERIENCE & QUALIFICATIONS 

 
● Stakeholder Engagement Processes 
● Focus Groups and Stakeholder Interviews 
● Strategic Planning 
● Survey Research 
● Large and small group facilitation, including public forums 
● Project Design & Management 
● White Papers 

 

PROJECT STATEMENT OF PURPOSE 

As described in the Request for Proposals for the Study to Support and Enhance Auburn’s Agricultural 

and Resource Sector, the primary goal of this study is to work with the Auburn community and 

stakeholders in developing credible information that can inform policies, regulations and public 

investments that support the city’s agricultural heritage, protect the natural beauty of its land and 

promote locally grown food, raising livestock, managing forests and natural resource-based businesses.   

As part of Maine’s second largest metro region, the City of Auburn’s Agricultural and Resource 

Protection District is unique in the proportion of Auburn’s land base it dedicates to natural resourced 

based activities. When the district was created, over 105,900 acres were in farmland in Androscoggin 

County and the district’s land base would have conserved a portion of land equal in size to nearly 20 

percent of all farmland in the county. Today, the county has about 56% less land in farms, with the 

average farm size at 128 acres, down from nearly 169 in 1964. Reflecting national trends, the county has 

seen growth in very small and very large farms.  When the AGRP District was formed, Androscoggin 

County reported no farms over 1,000 acres; in the last Ag Census, there were 8. 

For more than a decade, consumer interest in sustainably produced, regional and local foods has been 

growing and presents both opportunities and challenges for communities such as Auburn. We 

understand that the Agricultural & Resource Protection District (AGRP) was created to advance a set of 

objectives: 

o preserving and enhancing the agricultural heritage of Auburn 

o protecting the City’s natural resources and scenic open space  

o maintaining the economic value of the land  

o maintaining the potential for appropriate future development 

 

 

Activities outlined in the proposed Scope of Work below are focused on assisting the City of Auburn in 

answering several key questions related to these values: 

 

1. At this point in time, how well does the Agricultural / Rural District meet its stated objectives? 

2. How has the current zoning affected the growth and viability of agricultural and natural-

resource based operations? 

3. What trends and opportunities are natural resource-based businesses seeing on the horizon? 



 

4 | P a g e  
 

4. Are there changes to policies, regulations or public investment opportunities that could further 

support and enhance farms, agricultural and natural resourced businesses in Auburn? 

 

Our statement of purpose for this study assumes that the City of Auburn remains committed to the 

original objectives of the AGRP. In addition to providing this information, the Scope of Work also 

proposes methods for stakeholder engagement that are designed to produce a transparent and credible 

process that generates broad support for any subsequent decisions that may affect the AGRP or other 

municipal policies. 

 

SCOPE OF WORK 

Deliverables as listed in the Request for Proposals are: 

1. A database of property owners in the AGRP. 

2. A summary report of property owner interviews which includes identified barriers and 

opportunities for agriculture, food and natural resource business development. 

3. Implementation of a stakeholder engagement process that involves agriculture, food and 

natural resource businesses and stakeholders and public meetings. 

4. A final report with recommendations and an implementation strategy for Council action to 

maximize rural Auburn’s community and economic development potential and to include areas 

where additional analysis / information is needed. 

 

The proposed activities below were designed to produce these deliverables based on our current 

understanding of the City of Auburn’s needs and to provide a framework for how SmallFish Consulting 

Group expects to approach this project.  

 

Proposed Activities 

1. Research to Develop Property Owner Database 

Consultants would work with City staff to determine information to be included in the database and 

preferred software to be used for the project and would be responsible for research related to this 

deliverable. 

 

2. Coordinate Study with Input from Community Advisory Group 

We would recommend that the City consider creating a 9 to 11 member Community Advisory 

Group with representation from the planning board, conservation commission, landowners of 

different scales in the AGRP District, ag-related businesses operating in the ARD or the city at large, 

nonprofit and industry group such as the Androscoggin Chapter of Farm Bureau, and the Good Food 

Council of Lewiston-Auburn.  The role of this group is described in detail in the Proposed Activities 

below. 

 

 

 



 

5 | P a g e  
 

Schedule of Meetings – Community Advisory Group 

June/July 2017 Review project timeline and scope of work. 

August 
Participate in public meeting on the study. 

Review & finalize indicators and survey. 

January 2018 

Review survey report and identify next steps. 

Participate in public meeting to present survey findings and provide overview 
of next steps. 

March 
Review input from stakeholder interviews and identify additional research 
needs on alternative zoning options or other information TBD. 

April Review final report. 

May Participate in public meeting to present final report and recommendations 

 

 

3. Develop indicators to assess the current AGRP District and focus research on these areas.  

Indicators are data points or trends that can be used to illuminate movements towards or away 

from a desired outcome. The consultants would work with the Community Advisory Group to 

develop indicators for each AGRP objective. These indicators will reflect information on how well 

the district is accomplishing or supporting the objectives it was created for, and will help illuminate 

areas where changes or revisions to existing policies may provide more effective options for 

advancing the community’s priorities. 

Quantitative Indicators for the AGRP might include: 

 

● Percent change in land in active agriculture or natural resource based business in and out of 

the district over a given period of time; 

● Quality and suitability for farming of soils in the district; 

● Percent change in other special exception uses over a given time period; 

● Percent change in land value; 

● Number of businesses in the district that report expanding production or sales over a given 

time period; 

● Changes in where products produced in the AGRP are sold (retail, wholesale, distributor, 

within Auburn); 

● Percent change in ag support businesses and services in Androscoggin County over a given 

period of time (for example, equipment dealers, seed and soil implement dealers). 

Qualitative indicators might include: 

● How well elements of the current ordinance align with best practices for agricultural 

conservation zoning and other similar zoning in Maine and New England;  

● Businesses that report barriers to growth related to the ordinance, by size, type and years 

in operation. 

 

 



 

6 | P a g e  
 

4. AGRP Landowner Survey: Design & Administration 

The development and administration of the landowner survey would include the following 

components: 

 

a. Input from the Community Advisory Group on survey questions; 

b. Focus on expanding on the data collected by the City’s earlier survey, the recorded public 

meeting, and on information that can inform indicators; 

c. An option for respondents to use either a hard copy paper or online version of the survey; 

d. An option for respondents to participate in a follow up interview. 

 

The online survey would likely be administered using SurveyMonkey or similar software. 

Consultants would be responsible for administering the survey and analyzing results. 

 

5. Stakeholder Interviews  

Stakeholder analysis involves systematically gathering and analyzing qualitative information to 

determine whose interests should be taken into account when developing or evaluating a policy or 

program. Using data from the survey, the consultants would work with the Community Advisory 

Group to develop interview questions that probe information generated in the survey such as 

suggestions for specific changes, or unexpected data.  Community Advisory Group members would 

also assist in identifying key stakeholders. 

 

In addition to providing information on land use and the interests of property owners in the AGRP, 

interviews would be analyzed to look at what positions different types of stakeholders have on 

specific components in the ordinance and the pros and cons of existing policies. Interviewees 

would be selected from survey respondents that expressed interest in an interview and other 

stakeholders identified by the Community Advisory Group based on their expertise or experience in 

areas of interest that emerge from the initial survey results.  

 

6. Public Outreach  

The consultants would work with City of Auburn staff to develop information for the city website 

dedicated to the study.  Information would include the study timeline, meeting dates, information 

on indicators, and may include survey results and other information that develops over the course 

of the project. Additionally, notes from public meetings would be posted on the website and 

depending on the capacity of city staff and the technology, the site might also offer a moderated 

discussion forum. 

 

Schedule of Public Meetings 

August 
2017 

Public meeting to introduce the study and timeline. 

January 
2018 

Public meeting to present survey findings, invite public discussion and provide an 
overview of next steps. 

May 
2018 

Public meeting to present the final draft report and invite public discussion. 



 

7 | P a g e  
 

 

7. Reports 

The consultants will prepare the following reports in conjunction with the study: 

 Survey results, findings and analysis. 

 Summary of input from stakeholder interviews and how this input relates to the survey 

results and/or raises additional questions or information needs. 

 Final report including: 

o Relevant data from survey results and stakeholder interviews; 

o Overview of the study process and methodology; 

o An assessment of the current AGRP based on indicators developed in conjunction with 

an advisory committee; 

o Overall findings and recommendations including information relevant to the findings 

on alternative zoning and ordinance models.  

 

Project Timeline 

June/July 
2017 

Develop Database of Property Owners in the AGRP District 

Work with City staff to clarify process for identifying / inviting participants on 
Community Advisory Group 

Convene Advisory Group to review project timeline and scope of work 

August Develop draft indicators 

Public meeting on the study 

Preliminary Draft of Survey Instrument 

Meeting with Advisory Group and staff to review & finalize indicators and survey 

September – 
October 

Collect secondary data on other indicators to be determined 

Administer Survey 

November – 
December 

Consultants prepare survey results, other indicator data and potential next steps. 

Report forwarded to Advisory Group and staff for review. 

January – 
February 
2018 

Meeting with Advisory Group to review report and identify next steps. 

Public meeting to present survey findings and provide overview of next steps. 

Stakeholders identified for interviews 

Interviews conducted 

March – 
April 

Input from interviews analyzed and presented to Community Advisory Group and 
staff. 

Additional research on alternative zoning options conducted as needed. 

Final report presented to Advisory Group and staff. 

May 2018 Public meeting to present final draft report and recommendations. 

 

 

 

 



 

8 | P a g e  
 

TERMS 

This proposal is our best attempt to address the project goals described in the request for proposals.  

We estimate the project costs to be $39,067 or less.  

 

This estimate is based on a blended hourly rate of $92.64 for approximately 395 hours of work. We 

expect our actual time expended on this project to be within 5% of what we have estimated.  If our 

actual time is more than 5% under this estimate, we will adjust our billing accordingly. Actual costs for 

proposed work will be affected by the following: 

 

● number of properties that need to be included in the database of AGRP district landowners; 

● number of respondents to the survey (anticipated response rate = 50% of approximately 400 

properties) 

● number of stakeholder interviews conducted (estimated # = 25) 

● whether an advisory group is formed for the project and how many individuals participate 

 

If awarded a contract, SmallFish Consulting Group requests payment of 20% total consultant fees paid at 

the start of the contract. Remaining expenses would be billed quarterly with the final payment due upon 

30 days of submission of the project’s final report.  All expenses requests are billed at cost with 

accompanying receipts. 
 

Fees and Expenses 
 

Public Meetings 

 3, 2-hour meetings, prep, notetaking, facilitation and follow up   $ 4,325 

 

Community Advisory Group Meetings 

 4, 2-hour meetings, prep, notetaking, facilitation and follow up   $ 6,825 

 

Property owner database research       $ 1,650 

 

Indicator Development (research and meeting materials for facilitated 

work with Advisory Group)        $   675 

 

Survey Design, Administration and Report      $ 4,400  

 

Stakeholder Research Design, Implementation & Report     $ 7,850 

 

Research on zoning options (may include some interviews)    $ 1,200 

 

Final Report          $ 4,450 

 

General Project Administration (including additional meetings with staff, final 

project process design and work plan, and development of the Advisory Group)  $ 5,175 



 

9 | P a g e  
 

 
Total Consulting Fees         $36,550 

 

 
Travel Expenses (8 meetings billed at $50 / hour)     $ 1,000 

 

Materials & Supplies 

 Survey Monkey Subscription (2 months)      $       52 

 Printing 

  survey (400 copies, 15 pp each including)    $     633 

  survey report (20 pp., spiral bound, 50 copies)    $     610 

  stakeholder interview report (for advisory group & staff) (20 pp)  $       35 

Postage (surveys - 400 @ $.465 / letter, first-class metered mail)   $     186   

 
Total Materials & Supplies        $ 1,517 

 

TOTAL PROJECT COST        $39,067 

 

 

References 

 

Deborah Burd, Grants Manager, St. Mary’s Health System, Lewiston, ME 

207.755.3359 / dburd@stmarysmaine.com 

  

Melinda Lando, Pediatric Nurse Practitioner, Bronx-Lebanon Hospital Center, Bronx, NY 

718.579.7337 /  melindalando@msn.com 

 

Rosie Vanadestine, Executive Director, Kennebec Valley Council of Governments, Fairfield, ME 

207.453.4258 x213 / rvanadestine@kvcog.org 

 

 

FOR MORE INFORMATION ON THIS PROPOSAL: 

 

 

 

 

 

SmallFish Consulting Group LLC,   

PO Box 303, Farmington, ME  04938 

www.smallfishcg.com 

TANYA SWAIN 

Email:       tanya@smallfishcg.com 

Phone:     207.592.4369 

TRICIA COOK 

Email:       tricia@smallfishcg.com 

Phone:     207.500.2461 

http://www.smallfishcg.com/




















































 

 
 
 

City of Auburn 
City Council Information Sheet 

 
 

 

Council Workshop Date: June 5th, 2017      
 
Author:  Michael Chammings, Director of Economic and Community Development 
 

 

Subject: 477 Minot Avenue TIF and Home Funds Request 
 

Information:  The developers anticipate approximately 35 workforce housing units in a townhouse style 
configuration. 
 
The developers are requesting a 50% credit enhancement for 30 years and $110,000 in HOME funds.   

 
Advantages:  The project would create approximately 35workforce housing units and  
according to the developer’s projected assessed values, even after this TIF reimbursement, the City would net 
a significant increase in real estate taxes than are currently received from the property.  
 
Disadvantages: The Council approved a budget that included a component for co-op housing, this would push 
any co-op housing project funding into fiscal year 2019.   

 
City Budgetary Impacts: Minimal, Federal funds are already approved for moderate or low income housing 
assistance and the tax shift/general fund loss would be minimal.   

 
Staff Recommended Action:  Consent to staff starting the public hearing process.   
 

 
Previous Meetings and History: Council Executive Session May 15th, 2017.   

 
Attachments: Letter from DC Predevelopment LLC and supporting documents. 

 









 

 
 
 

City of Auburn 
City Council Information Sheet 

 

 

Council Meeting  Date: June 5th, 2017      
 
Author:  Michael Chammings, Director of Economic and Community Development 
 

Subject: Funding of the New Auburn Village Improvement 
 

The current year’s purchased services account budgeted for a workforce development program out of TIF 
funds. This program was not implemented (partially due to a roadblock at the State and staff turnover). 
 
These funds could be transferred into the New Auburn Village Improvement account. 
 
 

Advantages:  This would expedite the completion of the New Auburn Village Improvement project. 
 
Disadvantages: None known   

 
City Budgetary Impacts: None, TIF funds are dedicated to specific programs and projects; the New Auburn 
Village Improvement is a TIF approved project. 

 
Staff Recommended Action:  Transfer the current years TIF funded Workforce Development funds into the 
New Auburn Village Improvement account.  
 

 
Previous Meetings and History: Council 

 
 



City of Auburn, Maine 

Office of Economic and Community Development 

60 Court Street, Auburn,  Maine 04210  

www.auburnmaine.gov          207.333.6601 

Page 1 of 2 

 

 

To: Mayor LaBonte and Auburn City Council Members 

 

From: Doug Greene, AICP, RLA   Urban Development Specialist 

 

Date: June 5, 2017 

 

RE: Funding of the New Auburn Village Improvements 

 

 

The Staff would like to report on the New Auburn Village Center Plan broken down into annual 

construction activity and budgets and evaluate the potential impacts of re-allocating Workforce 

Development Funding to further the progress of the New Auburn Village Center project.  

 

2017 (Phase 1) Construction -  

 Acquisition and demolition of Broad St. property 

 Construction of the initial 250’ of the Riverway Road 

 Construction a 40 space public parking lot including necessary utilities and infrastructure 

 Construction of 10 parking lot for 15 Broad St. as per 2013 Land Swap agreement between 

owners and the City  

 

2017 (Phase 1) Budget -  

 Phase 1 has a budget of $544,800  

 Northern Borders Regional Commission Grant award of $246,186  

 Local match commitment of $250,000 

 $150,000 Comp Plan Implementation FY 16-17 

 $25,000 carry over from FY 15-16 New Auburn project budget 

 Phase 1 budget has a shortfall of $123,614 

 

2018 (Phase 2) Construction - Phase 2 currently is programmed to do the following: 

 The acquisition of 1 key property in Greenway area 

 Basic grading and filling of the Greenway trail area 

 Partial grading and filling of the Riverway Road 

 All utilities installed during grading and filling work 

 Construction of the “Spine Trail” in the Greenway 

 

2018 (Phase 2) Budget -  

 The current Phase 2 budget is $595,915  

 FY 18 funding request of $600,000 ($300,000 in bonding and $300.000 in TIF)  

 Possible Northern Borders Regional Commission grant of $250,000 

 Grant award would increase available budget to $850,000 

 

 



2019 (Phase 3) Construction -  

 Completed Greenway with accessory trails, handicapped water access, event plazas, 

landscaping, lighting, site amenities, a small amphitheater, playground and bell towers. 

 Completed Riverway Road with curbing, storm drainage, all infrastructure completed 

 New first floor commercial and upper floor space will be available for development 

 

2019 (Phase 3) Budget-  

 The Phase 3 budget is $1,845,280.   

 The FY 19 CIP request is $1,845,280.   

 

Project Funding Needs met using Workforce Development funds-  

 Re-allocation of Workforce Development funds of $450,000 would remove the $123,614 

shortfall and leave $326,386 remaining 

 If Northern Border Grant is successful, the local match of $250,000 leaves $76,386 remaining  

 The additional funding above the current Phase 2 budget of $600,000 could be used for 

additional greenway work in 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

C: File 



 
 
 
 

City of Auburn 
City Council Information Sheet 

 
 
 
Council Workshop or Meeting Date:  June 5, 2017   Order: 41-06052017    
 
Author:  Sue Clements-Dallaire, City Clerk 
 
 
Subject:  Appointing Wardens and Ward Clerks for the June 13, 2017 Election 
 
Information:   
 
Warden and Ward Clerk Appointments are made every two years. Appointments were made in January of 2016 for the 
2016-2017 term, however there were several positions that were either not filled or vacated. The City Clerk has 
nominated the following Wardens and Ward Clerks to fill those vacant positions for the June 13, 2017 election. 
 

David Foster – Warden 
Levi Gervais – Warden 
Wanda Brown – Warden 
Audrey Murphy - Warden    
 
Lorraine Boilard - Ward Clerk  
Christine Sirois - Ward Clerk  
Norman Simard - Ward Clerk  
Alice Dill - Ward Clerk  
Robert Hayes – Ward Clerk 
 

Advantages:  Passage of the order fills these positions and ensures that we are in compliance with State Election Law 
and City Ordinance. 
 
Disadvantages: It is becoming more of a challenge to find and retain qualified, committed candidates to fill all of these 
positions. 

 
City Budgetary Impacts: N/A 

 
Staff Recommended Action: Recommend passage. 

 
Previous Meetings and History: Two year appointments were made 1/4/2016, however not all positions were filled and 
some are unable to work this election. 

 
Attachments: Order  
 



James Pross, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 
Robert Stone, Ward Two  Grady R. Burns, At Large 
Andy Titus, Ward Three  David C. Young, At Large 
Vacant, Ward Four 
 

Jonathan P. LaBonte, Mayor 
 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 
 

ORDER   41-06052017 
  
ORDERED, that the City Council hereby appoints the following individuals as Wardens and Ward 
Clerks for the June 13, 2017 Election. 

 
David Foster – Warden 
Levi Gervais – Warden 
Wanda Brown – Warden 
Audrey Murphy - Warden    
 
Lorraine Boilard - Ward Clerk  
Christine Sirois - Ward Clerk  
Norman Simard - Ward Clerk  
Alice Dill - Ward Clerk  
Robert Hayes – Ward Clerk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 

City of Auburn 
City Council Information Sheet 

 
 
Council Meeting Date: June 5th, 2017    Order:     42-06052017  
 
Author:  Michael Chammings, Director of Economic and Community Development 
 
Subject: Approving the Omni Circle Property Sale 
 

Information:  In 2016 the Auburn Economic and Community Development staff was asked to provide possible 
options for expansion of a business on Omni Circle; three options were presented and the business owner selected 
the one being considered as their preferred option.  The Economic and Community Development Staff was then 
asked to assist the Airport in amending the Subdivision Plan to include the following: 

a. Note 7 from the 11/25/81 Subdivision plan be changed to read “Required Lot Area is 20,000 sq. ft.”. 
b. A note added that eliminates the required landscaping of Parcel PID # 143-013. 
c. A note added to the plan designating a lot identification for Parcel PID # 143-013 be provided on the 

plan.   
d. A note added to the plan stating that Parcel PID # 143-013 is a developable lot.  

 
The Airport applied to the Auburn Planning Board for an Amended Subdivision Plan to the Auburn-Lewiston Airpark 
Subdivision; after the public hearing process, the Amended Subdivision Plan was approved by the Planning Board. 
 
The Airport would now like to market the new lot. In order for the Airport to market the lot, they must comply with 
the Interlocal Agreement that states: 
 

“When the Directors determine that any of the Airport Board's real or personal property or interests therein are no 
longer necessary to the accomplishment of the purposes of the Airport, it may dispose of the same, subject to any 
restrictions which may be imposed by the Federal Government or its regulatory agencies having administrative 
jurisdiction over the Airport Board's operation, upon such terms as it considers advisable. Any proposed disposal of real 
estate or personal property having a value in excess of One Thousand Dollars ($1000.00) shall be first approved by the 
Lewiston and Auburn City Councils”. 

 
Advantages:  The sale of the property would have the potential of adding up to four new good paying jobs and it would 
add to our tax base.  
 
Disadvantages: None known   

 
City Budgetary Impacts: None    

 
Staff Recommended Action:  Approve the disposal of the new lot. 
 

 
Previous Meetings and History: Planning Board approval May 8th, 2017.   

 
Attachments: Document labeled Attachment 2 and Order 

 





James Pross, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 
Robert Stone, Ward Two  Grady R. Burns, At Large 
Andy Titus, Ward Three  David C. Young, At Large 
Vacant, Ward Four 
 

Jonathan P. LaBonte, Mayor 
 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 
 

ORDER 42-06052017 
  
ORDERED, that the City Council hereby orders parcel # 143-013, located on Omni Circle, to be 
eligible for sale by the Lewiston-Auburn Airport Board as a developable lot as approved by the 
Auburn Planning Board at their May 9, 2017 meeting. 
 



 
 
 
 

City of Auburn 
City Council Information Sheet 

 
 
 
Council Workshop or Meeting Date:  June 5, 2017   Resolve: 02-06052017     
 
Author:  Douglas Greene, Urban Development Specialist and Grant Administrator, AICP, RLA 
 
Subject: Council Resolution to Support a Grant Application 
 
Information: The Northern Borders Regional Commission (NBRC), a federal economic development agency, is offering 
another round of grant funding for infrastructure and economic development projects.  The City of Auburn was awarded 
an NBRC grant last year and the staff wants to apply again.  The Staff is requesting the City Council approve a resolution 
to authorize the City Manager to sign the application, which has been prepared by Staff.  The maximum federal grant 
award is $250,000 that would need to be matched with $250,000 from the City, for a total award of $500,000 for Phase 
2 of the New Auburn Village Center.   
 
This year’s Phase 2 grant is being written with the intent of being combined with Phase 1 funding.  If successful, this 
would allow much more construction to be completed in 2018.  The work would include:  

1. A new 40 space public parking area behind the Firehouse Grill and the All About You Salon.  
2. Creation of new developable building pad areas. 
3. The construction of the initial 250 feet of the Riverway Road. 
4. Grading, filling and construction of the Village Center Greenway Trail. 
5. Grading, filling of the Riverway Road (To be completed in 2019). 

 
Advantages: This grant can provide funding for implementation of a significant part of the New Auburn Village Center 
Plan.  
 
Disadvantages:  The construction would be a temporary inconvenience.   

 
City Budgetary Impacts: The local match will be a maximum of $250,000.  This is a reimbursement grant, and the project 
funding would need to be made available during the project’s construction. 

 
Staff Recommended Action: Approval of the resolution 

 
Previous Meetings and History: A resolution for Phase 1 was approved by the City Council in June of 2016.   

 
Attachments:  

1. NBRC Grant Information Sheet 
2. Resolution of support  





James Pross, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 
Robert Stone, Ward Two  Grady R. Burns, At Large 
Andy Titus, Ward Three  David C. Young, At Large 
Vacant, Ward Four 
 

Jonathan P. LaBonte, Mayor 
 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 
 

       RESOLVE 02-06052017 
  
RESOLVED, that the City Council supports the application for a Economic and Infrastructure 
Development Investment grant by the Northern Borders Regional Commission and, 
 
FURTHER RESOLVED, authorizes the Office of Community and Economic Development to 
prepare the grant application for a $250,000, which will require a 50% match from the City and, 
 
THEREFORE, the City Council authorizes the City Manager to sign the grant application. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 
 

City of Auburn 
City Council Information Sheet 

 
 

 

Council Workshop or Meeting Date:  June 5, 2017   Order:   43-06052017 
 
Author:  Jill Eastman, Finance Director 
 

 

Subject:  LA 911 Fund Balance Policy 
 

Information:  The board of directors for LA 911 has prepared and is recommending the adoption of a Fund 
Balance Policy for LA 911.  

 
Advantages:  Clear direction on the use of the LA 911 Fund Balance and the bench mark for the amount of 
Fund Balance that LA 911 should have. 
 
Disadvantages:  

 
City Budgetary Impacts: None 

 
Staff Recommended Action:  Passage of the Fund Balance Policy for LA 911 
 

 
Previous Meetings and History: Budget workshop  May 15, 2017 

 
Attachments:  
 
LA 911 Committee-Fund Balance Policy 

 



James Pross, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 
Robert Stone, Ward Two  Grady R. Burns, At Large 
Andy Titus, Ward Three  David C. Young, At Large 
VACANT, Ward Four 
 

Jonathan P. LaBonte, Mayor 
 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 
 

ORDER 43-06052017 
  
  ORDERED, that the City Council hereby adopts the attached 911 fund balance policy. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 









 

 
 
 

City of Auburn 
City Council Information Sheet 

 
 

 

Council Workshop or Meeting Date:  June 5, 2017   Order:  44-06052017     
 
Author:  Sue Clements-Dallaire, City Clerk 
 

 

Subject:  Appointing City Manager, Peter Crichton, as alternate to Councilor Titus on the AVCOG 
(Androscoggin Valley Council of Governments) Executive Committee. 
 

Information:  Councilor Titus serves on the AVCOG Executive Committee. This would be to appoint City 
Manager, Peter Crichton, as an alternate member. 

 
Advantages:  Helps to ensure Auburn representation. 
 
Disadvantages: None 

 
City Budgetary Impacts: N/A 

 
Staff Recommended Action: Recommend passage. 

 
Previous Meetings and History: N/A 

 
Attachments:  
Order 
 



James Pross, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 
Robert Stone, Ward Two  Grady R. Burns, At Large 
Andy Titus, Ward Three  David C. Young, At Large 
VACANT, Ward Four 
 

Jonathan P. LaBonte, Mayor 
 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 
 

ORDER 44-06052017 
  
ORDERED, that the City Council hereby approves the appointment of City Manager, Peter 
Crichton, as alternate member of the AVCOG (Androscoggin Valley Council of Governments) 
Executive Committee.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

















6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

2 
 
 
 
 
 

 

3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

STAGE 
 

V 

4 E    

84 Court 
vending area

 
D  

 
O   
R    

S 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

5 
 
 
 
 
 
Parking 
 
 
 
 

 

• 
NOT TO SCALE 

second 

possible 

Vendng /  

entertainment 

area 

PARKING 

PYROTECHNIC 

LAUNCH 

SITE 

LONGLEY MEMORIAL 

BRIDGE 

COU

RT 

ST 

HAMPSHI

RE ST 

MILL

ER ST 

T

U

R

N

E

R

 

S

T 

M

E

C

H

A

N

I

C

S

 

R

O

W 

M

A

I

N

 

S

T 

H

I

G

H

 

S

T 

T

U

R

N

E

R

 

S

T 

M

A

I

N

 

S

T 

N

O

R

T

H

 

M

I

L

L

E

R

 

S

T 

GREAT 

FALLS PLZ 

PARKING 
 



 

 

  Page 1 

Sec. 14-252. - Clerk's notification to council.  

As soon as the city clerk or designee receives an application to hold a mass gathering, the clerk shall 
give public notice by notifying the city council. Such notification shall appear as a formal communication 
on the agenda of the next regularly scheduled council meeting.  

(Ord. No. 38-02072011-05, att. § 24-200, 2-7-2011)  



Summary of Proposed Budget  

Fiscal Year 18 
As of June 5, 2017 



Tax Levy Increase 
Council Adopted 

Budget  
FY16-17 

Original Manager 
Proposed Budget  

FY 17-18 

Current Manager 
Proposed Budget  

FY 17-18 

Council 
Adopted 
Budget 

FY 17-18 $ Change % Change  

Tax Levy 

City  $24,845,276 $25,782,880 $25,677,880 0 $832,604 3.35% 

School $17,648,609 $19,188,990 $19,090,947 0 $1,442,338 8.17% 

County  $2,167,824 $2,296,224 $2,296,224 0 $128,400 5.92% 

Overlay 

Total Tax Levy  $44,661,709 $47,170,051 $47,065,051 0 $2,403,342 5.38% 



Tax Levy  
     

      
 
   

 
   

ORIGINAL  AMENDED $ CHANGE % CHANGE  

City $25,782,880 $25,677,880 $(105,000) -0.42% 

School $19,090,947 $19,090,947 $0 0.00% 

County $2,296,224 $2,296,224 $0 0.00% 

Overlay 

Total Tax 
Levy 

$47,170,051 $47,065,051 $(105,000) -0.24% 



Homeowner Impact 
Manager Manager 
Proposed Proposed 

FY 17 FY 18 FY 17 FY 18 
Tax Rate Tax Rate Increase Tax Rate Tax Rate Increase 

12.44 12.85 0.41 12.44 12.85 0.41 
City Budget City Budget 
$150,000 Home  $1,866.00   $1,927.50   $61.50  $200,000 Home  $2,488.00   $2,570.00   $82.00  

Proposed Proposed 
FY 17 FY 18 FY 17 FY 18 

Tax Rate Tax Rate Increase Tax Rate Tax Rate Increase 
1.08 1.15 0.07 1.08 1.15 0.07 

County Taxes County Taxes 
$150,000 Home  $162.00   $172.50   $10.50  $200,000 Home  $216.00   $230.00   $14.00  

Proposed Proposed 
FY 17 FY 18 FY 17 FY 18 

Tax Rate Tax Rate Increase Tax Rate Tax Rate Increase 
8.83 9.55 0.72 8.83 9.55 0.72 

School Budget School Budget 
$150,000 Home  $1,324.50   $1,432.50   $108.00  $200,000 Home  $1,766.00   $1,910.00   $144.00  

Proposed Proposed 
FY 17 FY 18 FY 17 FY 18 

Tax Rate Tax Rate Increase Tax Rate Tax Rate Increase 
22.35 23.55 1.20 22.35 23.55 1.20 

Combined Budget Combined Budget 
$150,000 Home  $3,352.50   $3,532.50   $189.00  $200,000 Home  $4,470.00   $4,722.00   $252.00  



City Manager  
Regular Salaries: 
  City Solicitor   $ (100,000) 

Purchased Services-General: 
  *Legal Services   $ 125,000 
  Compensation Study  $ 40,000 
  Fire Safety Study  $ 40,000 
 
*Deleted Legal Services as a Department 
   



Fire  
Salaries:   

  *Regular Salaries  $ 170,000 

  OT-Vacation Replacement $ (80,000) 
  OT-Sick Replacement LT $ (5,000) 
  OT-Sick Replacement ST $ (20,000) 
 
*Additional three positions w/ benefits 
   

 
   



Fire Overtime Analysis  
FY 12 FY 13 FY 14 FY 15 FY 16 

Description   Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual 

              

OT-Vacation Replacement  $      20,798   $        19,264   $    20,798   $    66,056   $    30,000   $    80,415   $    20,000   $    87,129   $    20,000   $  120,844  

OT-Sick Replacement Long Term  $      20,000   $        26,225   $    20,000   $    50,941   $    20,000   $    94,064   $    20,000   $    82,600   $    20,000   $    75,173  

OT-Sick Replacement Short Term  $      69,000   $      101,284   $    89,000   $  121,749   $    89,000   $  157,578   $    89,000   $  161,537   $    89,000   $  146,154  

OT-Mandatory Training  $        8,480   $        22,583   $    15,000   $    11,720   $    16,868   $    12,185   $    18,463   $    48,986   $    18,464   $    10,924  

OT-Extra Assignments  $      12,069   $        19,504   $    15,133   $    33,652   $    27,063   $    67,953   $    15,990   $    64,943   $    15,990   $    44,665  

OT-Vacancies/Retirements  $      11,885   $      144,164   $    12,196   $    70,692   $    12,196   $    37,562   $    12,844   $    60,272   $    12,844   $      5,728  

OT-Work Related Injuries  $      15,000   $              631   $    15,000   $    15,533   $    15,000   $    24,229   $    15,000   $    65,964   $    15,000   $    18,440  

OT-Meetings  $        2,525   $           2,278   $      2,525   $      8,782   $      5,000   $    11,264   $      6,425   $    13,308   $      6,425   $    14,081  

OT-Funeral Leave  $        2,500   $           5,114   $      2,500   $      5,758   $      2,500   $      6,208   $      5,000   $      7,480   $      5,000   $      5,645  

OT-Multiple Alarms  $        9,208   $           3,780   $      9,208   $    13,785   $      9,208   $      6,259   $      6,000   $    (4,126)  $      6,000   $    19,126  

              

TOTALS  $    171,465   $      344,827   $  201,360   $  398,668   $  226,835   $  497,717   $  208,722   $  588,093   $  208,723   $  460,780  

                      

Budget Overage    $      173,362     $  197,308     $  270,882     $  379,371     $  252,057  

                      

     Minimum Manning  13   Minimum Manning  14  



FY 18 Expenditures w/ and w/o EMS 
Manager Proposed 

Budget  
WITH EMS  
FY 17-18 

Council Adopted 
Budget WITHOUT 

EMS 
FY 17-18 $ Change % Change  

City Expenses 

Operating Expenses $28,291,287 $27,701,083 $(590,204) -2.21% 

Debt Service/TIF $9,416,336 $9,416,336 0 0.00% 

Intergovernmental $4,012,830 $4,012,830 0 0.00% 

Total City Expenses $41,720,453 $41,130,249 $(590,204) -1.48% 

Less:  Non-Tax Revenues 

City $13,746,184 $12,496,184 $(125,000) -9.43% 

Tax Levy 

City  $27,974,269 $28,634,065 $659,796 2.66% 

Total Assessed Value  $1,998,286,739 $1,998,286,769 

Tax Rate  

City (Including County Tax  $14.00 $14.33 $0.33 2.66% 



EMS Comparison  

 $-    

 $5,000,000  

 $10,000,000  

 $15,000,000  

 $20,000,000  

 $25,000,000  

 $30,000,000  

 $35,000,000  

 $40,000,000  

 $45,000,000  

City Expenses Non Property Tax Revene Tax Levy 

 $
41

,7
20

,4
53

  

 $
13

,7
46

,1
84

  

 $
27

,9
74

,2
69

  

 $
41

,1
30

,2
49

  

 $
12

,4
96

,1
84

   $
28

,6
34

,0
65

  

Comparison of FY 18 Proposed Budget with and without EMS 

With EMS 

Without EMS 



Budget History of EMS Transport 
EMS Expenditures EMS Revenue Transfer to 

Capital Reserve  
Net to General 

Fund  

FY15 (Actual) 

Operating  $(379,638) $807,421 $297,783 

Capital  $(130,000) $130,000 

FY16 (Actual) 

Operating  $(366,303) $1,335,716 $869,413 

Capital  $(100,000) $100,000 

FY17 (Actual) 

Operating  $(490,997) $1,250,000 $659,003 

Capital  $(100,000) $100,000 

FY18 (Proposed) 

Operating  $(538,828) $1,250,000 $651,172 

Capital  $(60,000) $60,000 

Available for Ambulance Purchase  $390,000 



Budget Resources  
o Our FY2018 Preliminary Municipal Budget can be found online:  

www.auburnmaine.gov 
 
o Questions may be addressed to:  pcrichton@auburnmaine.gov or 

by calling, (207) 333.6601 ext. 1221 
 



 

 
 
 

City of Auburn 
City Council Information Sheet 

 
 

 

Council Workshop or Meeting Date:   06/05/2017  Order:   45-06052017 
 
Author:  Jill M. Eastman, Finance Director 
 

 

Subject:  Order – Authorizing Issuance of General Obligation Bonds and Tax Levy Therefor 
 

Information:  This is the order authorizing the sale of $7,400,000 in General Obligation Bonds to finance the FY 
17-18 Capital Improvement Projects. (list attached) 
 

 
Advantages: These 7.4 million dollar bonds will provide funding for the FY 17-18 Capital Improvement projects 
and also help to begin reducing the total outstanding debt of the City, by issuing less debt than we are retiring. 
 
Disadvantages: The total requests for Capital Improvements were over $18 million (including the School 
Department), and by not funding a larger portion of the requests, infrastructure, facilities and equipment 
continue to deteriorate. 
 

 
City Budgetary Impacts:  

 
Staff Recommended Action:  Staff recommends holding a public hearing on the General Obligation Bond 
Order and passage of 1st reading. 
 
 

 
Previous Meetings and History: Joint Council and School Committee workshop on 3/06/17, various budget 
workshops through April and May 2017. 

 
Attachments:  
List of projects 
Bond Order 
Public Hearing Notice 

 



{W5533123.1} 

CITY OF AUBURN  

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

 

 
Pursuant to Section 8.13 of the City Charter, notice is hereby given that the Auburn City Council 

will hold a public hearing on Monday, June 5, 2017, at 7:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers, 

Auburn Hall, 60 Court Street on a proposed order authorizing the City’s general obligation bonds 

in the amount of $7,400,000 to finance the City’s FY18 Capital Improvement Program.   

 

Following the public hearing, the City Council expects to conduct the second reading and take 

final action on the order at the June 19, 2017 meeting.   

 

The order is available for inspection at the City Clerk’s office during regular business hours. 

 

 

 



CITYWIDE  
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN FY 18 BONDS

Description
Airport Landside Parking Lot  $            325,000 

Econ Dev & Planning New Auburn Village Revitalization  $            300,000 

Econ Dev & Planning Dangerous Building Demolition  $              75,000 

Econ Dev & Planning Minot Ave/South Goff St-Engineering  $            125,000 

Econ Dev & Planning AG Economy Study  $              40,000 

Electrical Main St Underground Electrical Replacement  $              60,000 

Electrical Upgrade Street Lights-LED  $            155,000 

Electrical Traffic Signal Upgrades/Replacement  $              35,000 

Facilities Auburn Hall Chiller Replacement  $            214,000 

Facilities Hasty Kitchen Hood & Suppression System  $              20,000 

Facilities Public Works Roof Replacement  $            100,000 

Facilities Code Compliance Surveys-PW Garage, Central Fire  $              80,000 

Fire Engine 5 Generator  $              32,000 
IT Upgrade Operating Systems 200,000$            
IT GIS Flyover 40,000$              
LA911 Radio Replacement Project 535,000$            
Police Vehicle Replacement 250,000$            
Engineering Reconstruction 800,000$            
Engineering Reclamation/Resurfacing 1,000,000$         
Engineering Major Drainage 300,000$            
Engineering MDOT Match 500,000$            
Engineering Sidewalks 100,000$            
Public Works 7 Yard Plow Trucks 386,000$            
Public Works One Ton Trucks 130,000$            
Public Works Pickups 120,000$            
Public Works Multi Use Tractor 150,000$            
School Department School Department 1,300,000$         
Administration Contingency 28,000$              

7,400,000$         TOTAL CIP



James Pross, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 
Robert Stone, Ward Two  Grady R. Burns, At Large 
Andy Titus, Ward Three  David C. Young, At Large 
Vacant, Ward Four 
 

Jonathan P. LaBonte, Mayor 
 

IN CITY COUNCIL 
ORDER 45-06052017 

 

ORDER - AUTHORIZING ISSUANCE OF GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS AND A TAX LEVY THEREFOR (First Reading) 
 

Be It Ordered by the Auburn City Council, following a public hearing duly called and held as required by Article 8, 
Section 8.13 of the Auburn City Charter, that there be and hereby is authorized the issuance and sale of the City’s 
general obligation bonds and notes in anticipation thereof on either a taxable or a tax-exempt basis in the amount 
of $7,400,000, the proceeds of which, including premium, if any, and investment earnings thereon, are hereby 
appropriated to finance the following capital equipment and capital improvements (including costs of issuance for 
the bonds), all constituting part of the City’s FY18 Capital Improvement Program: 

 
 

Description

Airport Landside Parking Lot  $         325,000 

Econ Dev & Planning New Auburn Village Revitalization  $         300,000 

Econ Dev & Planning Dangerous Building Demolition  $           75,000 

Econ Dev & Planning Minot Ave/South Goff St-Engineering  $         125,000 

Econ Dev & Planning AG Economy Study  $           40,000 

Electrical Main St Underground Electrical Replacement  $           60,000 

Electrical Upgrade Street Lights-LED  $         155,000 

Electrical Traffic Signal Upgrades/Replacement  $           35,000 

Facilities Auburn Hall Chiller Replacement  $         214,000 

Facilities Hasty Kitchen Hood & Suppression System  $           20,000 

Facilities Public Works Roof Replacement  $         100,000 

Facilities Code Compliance Surveys-PW Garage, Central Fire  $           80,000 

Fire Engine 5 Generator  $           32,000 

IT Upgrade Operating Systems 200,000$         

IT GIS Flyover 40,000$            

LA911 Radio Replacement Project 535,000$         

Police Vehicle Replacement 250,000$         

Engineering Reconstruction 800,000$         

Engineering Reclamation/Resurfacing 1,000,000$      

Engineering Major Drainage 300,000$         

Engineering MDOT Match 500,000$         

Engineering Sidewalks 100,000$         

Public Works 7 Yard Plow Trucks 386,000$         

Public Works One Ton Trucks 130,000$         

Public Works Pickups 120,000$         

Public Works Multi Use Tractor 150,000$         

School Department School Department 1,300,000$      

Administration Contingency 28,000$            

7,400,000$      TOTAL CIP



James Pross, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 
Robert Stone, Ward Two  Grady R. Burns, At Large 
Andy Titus, Ward Three  David C. Young, At Large 
Vacant, Ward Four 
 

Jonathan P. LaBonte, Mayor 
 
THAT the bonds and notes authorized hereunder shall be signed by the City’s Finance Director and its Treasurer, 
attested by the City Clerk under the seal of the City.  A tax levy is hereby provided for each fiscal year that the 
bonds authorized hereunder remain outstanding to meet the annual installments of principal and interest as may 
accrue in each respective year.  The bonds and notes may be issued at one time or from time to time, either singly 
or in series, and the authority and discretion to fix method of sale, issue date, maturities, denominations, interest 
rate, place of payment, form and other details of said bonds and notes, and to take all other actions and to sign 
and deliver all other documents, certificates and agreements in order to provide for the sale thereof is hereby 
delegated to the City’s Finance Director. 
 
THAT in order to finance temporarily the projects described above, the Finance Director is authorized to expend 
up to $7,500,000 either from available funds of the City or from the proceeds of bond anticipation notes which 
would be reimbursed or refinanced from bond proceeds. 
 
THAT the bonds and notes authorized hereunder may be made subject to call for redemption, either with or 
without premium, on such terms as may be determined by the Finance Director. 
 
THAT the authority and discretion to designate the bond or notes authorized hereunder, or a portion thereof, as 
qualified tax-exempt obligations under Section 265 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, is hereby 
delegated to the Finance Director. 
 
THAT the City’s Finance Director, Treasurer, Clerk, and other proper officials of the City be, and hereby are, 
authorized and empowered in its name and on its behalf to do or cause to be done all such acts and things, and to 
execute, deliver, file, approve, and record all financing documents, contracts, agreements, certificates, 
preliminary and final official statements, tax certificates and other documents as may be necessary or advisable, 
with the advice of counsel for the City, to carry out the provisions of this order, as may be necessary or desirable. 
 
THAT if the Finance Director, Treasurer, or Clerk are for any reason unavailable to approve and execute the bonds 
or any related financing documents, the person or persons then acting in any such capacity, whether as an 
assistant, a deputy, or otherwise, is authorized to act for such official with the same force and effect as if such 
official had himself or herself performed such act. 
 
THAT the authority to issue the bonds or notes authorized hereunder shall automatically expire 2 years from the 
approval of this Order. 
 
THAT this order is a declaration of official intent pursuant to Treas. Reg. § 1.150-2 and shall be kept available for 
public inspection during reasonable business hours at the office of the City Clerk. 
 
A Public Notice describing the general purpose of the borrowing and the terms thereof was published on or 
before May 22, 2017, in the Lewiston Sun-Journal, a daily newspaper published in the City of Auburn and in 
Androscoggin County.   
 
A public hearing was held on June 5, 2017.   
 



 

 
 
 

City of Auburn 
City Council Information Sheet 

 
 

 

Council Workshop or Meeting Date:   06/05/2017  Order:   46-06052017 
 
Author:  Jill M. Eastman, Finance Director 
 

 

Subject:  Order – Reallocating Unspent Proceeds from the City’s General Obligation Bonds. 
 

Information:  This is the order authorizing the reallocation of $337,100 from previous General Obligation 
Bonds that were unspent to fund a portion of the City’s FY 17-18 CIP. ( list attached ) 
 

 
Advantages: These unused bond proceeds will provide funding for a portion of the FY 17-18 Capital 
Improvement projects. 
 
Disadvantages: N/A 
 

 
City Budgetary Impacts: N/A 

 
Staff Recommended Action:  Staff recommends holding a public hearing on the Reallocation Order and 
passage of 1st reading, the second reading will be scheduled June 19, 2017. 
 
 

 
Previous Meetings and History: Joint Council and School Committee workshop on 3/06/17, various budget 
workshops through April and May 2017. 
 
Attachments:  
List of Projects 
Bond Order 
Public Hearing Notice 

 



{W4718360.1} {W4718360.1} {W4718360.1} {W4319800.1} 

CITY OF AUBURN  

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

 

 
Pursuant to Section 8.13 of the City Charter, notice is hereby given that the Auburn City Council 

will hold a public hearing on Monday, June 5, 2017, at 7:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers, 

Auburn Hall, 60 Court Street on a proposed order reallocating $337,100 of unspent proceeds from 

various City General Obligation Bonds to a portion of the Capital Improvement Projects for FY 

18. 

 

Following the public hearing, the City Council expects to conduct the second reading and take 

final action on the order at the June 19, 2017, meeting.   

 

The order is available for inspection at the City Clerk’s office during regular business hours. 

 

 

 



CITYWIDE 
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN FY 18 Unallocated

Description
 Unallocated 

Bond Proceeds 

Fire Replace 4 Wheel Drive Pi ck Up  $             36,000 
Fire Engine 2 Generator  $             20,000 
LATC Bus Replacement  $             40,000 
NSB Arena Heating System for Rink #2  $             72,000 
Police TASERs  $             59,000 
Police Speed Signs  $             33,600 
Parks Utility Vehicle  $             10,000 
Public Works Tilt Trailer Replacements  $             11,500 
Public Works 14' Dump Body Reaplacement  $             31,000 
Recreation Basketball Backboards  $             24,000 

337,100$           TOTAL CIP



James Pross, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 
Robert Stone, Ward Two  Grady R. Burns, At Large 
Andy Titus, Ward Three  David C. Young, At Large 
Vacant, Ward Four 
 

Jonathan P. LaBonte, Mayor 
 

IN CITY COUNCIL 
ORDER 46-06052017 

 

ORDER - Reallocating Unspent Proceeds from the City's General Obligation Bonds (First Reading).  
 
WHEREAS, the City of Auburn issued General Obligation Bonds in various amounts for various projects; and 
 
WHEREAS, there remain unspent proceeds of the Bonds borrowed for multiple capital improvements, $337,100 of 
which excess proceeds the City Council desires to reappropriate and reallocate to be used for the projects listed 
below; 

 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, by the City Council of the City of Auburn, be it hereby ORDERED: 
 
THAT the excess proceeds of the Bonds, in the amount of $337,100 be and hereby are appropriated from the 
amount borrowed as part of various Bonds to finance the costs of the projects listed above. 
 
THAT the City’s Finance Director / Treasurer be, and hereby is, authorized and empowered in the name and on 
behalf of the City, to do or cause to be done all such acts and things, and to execute and deliver, all such financing 
documents, certificates, and other documents as may be necessary or advisable, with the advice of counsel for 
the City, to carry out the provisions of this Order, as may be necessary or desirable. 
 
A Public Notice describing the repurposing of these Bond proceeds borrowed for Various Projects to the list above 
was published on or before May 22, 2017, in the Lewiston Sun-Journal, a daily newspaper published in the City of 
Auburn and in Androscoggin County.   
 
A public hearing was held on June 5, 2017.   
 

CITYWIDE 

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN FY 18 Unallocated

Description
 Unallocated 

Bond Proceeds 

Fire Replace 4 Wheel Drive Pi ck Up  $              36,000 

Fire Engine 2 Generator  $              20,000 

LATC Bus Replacement  $              40,000 

NSB Arena Heating System for Rink #2  $              72,000 

Police TASERs  $              59,000 

Police Speed Signs  $              33,600 

Parks Utility Vehicle  $              10,000 

Public Works Tilt Trailer Replacements  $              11,500 

Public Works 14' Dump Body Reaplacement  $              31,000 

Recreation Basketball Backboards  $              24,000 

337,100$           TOTAL CIP



 

 
 
 

City of Auburn 
City Council Information Sheet 

 
 

 

Council Workshop or Meeting Date:   06/05/2017  Order:   47-06052017 
 
Author:  Jill M. Eastman, Finance Director 
 

 

Subject:  Order – Authorizing Use of Other Funds to fund a portion of the FY 17-18 CIP. 
 

Information:  This is the order authorizing the use of $816,500 from Other Funds to fund a portion of the 
City’s FY 17-18 CIP.  The breakdown of these other funds are as follows:  $385,000-TIF Funds, $360,000-EMS 
Capital Reserve Fund and $71,500-LA911 Fund Balance (list attached) 
 

 
Advantages: These funds are available to fund these projects without having to use General Obligation Bonds. 
 
Disadvantages: N/A 
 

 
City Budgetary Impacts: N/A 

 
Staff Recommended Action:  Staff recommends passage of this order. 
 
 

 
Previous Meetings and History: Joint Council and School Committee workshop on 3/06/17, various budget 
workshops through April and May 2017. 
 
Attachments:  
List of Projects 
Order 

 



CITYWIDE 
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN FY 18 Other Funds
Description Funds

Economic Development New Auburn Village Center Revitalization TIF  $            300,000 
Sports Tourism Huddle Up Program TIF  $              40,000 
Fire-EMS Ambulance Replacement EMS Capital Reserve 360,000$            
LA 911 Virtulization Hardware Refresh LA911 Fund Balance 71,500$              
Parks Riverwalk Fence Replacement TIF 45,000$              

816,500$            TOTAL CIP



James Pross, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 
Robert Stone, Ward Two  Grady R. Burns, At Large 
Andy Titus, Ward Three  David C. Young, At Large 
Vacant, Ward Four 
 

Jonathan P. LaBonte, Mayor 
 

IN CITY COUNCIL 
ORDER 47-06052017 

 
ORDERED, that the Auburn City Council hereby authorizes the use of funds in the amount of 
$816,500, from the funds listed below to be used to fund the Capital Improvements listed 
below: 
 

 
 

 
A public hearing was held on June 5, 2017.   
 

CITYWIDE 

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN FY 18 Other Funds

Description Funds
Economic Development New Auburn Village Center Revitalization TIF  $            300,000 

Sports Tourism Huddle Up Program TIF  $              40,000 

Fire-EMS Ambulance Replacement EMS Capital Reserve 360,000$           

LA 911 Virtulization Hardware Refresh LA911 Fund Balance 71,500$              

Parks Riverwalk Fence Replacement TIF 45,000$              

816,500$           TOTAL CIP



 

 
 
 

City of Auburn 
City Council Information Sheet 

 
 

 

Council Workshop or Meeting Date:  06/05/2017   Resolve:  03-06052017 
 
Author:  Jill M Eastman, Finance Director 
 

Subject:  Resolve Adopting the 2017—2018 Annual Appropriation and Revenue Resolve (First Reading and 
Public Hearing) 
 

Information:  In accordance with the city Charter, Article 8, Section 8.6, prior to the fiscal year the City Council 
shall adopt an annual appropriation resolve making appropriations by department, fund, services, strategy or 
other organizational unit and authorizing an allocation for each program or activity. 
 

The Council has been supplied with a resolve to adopt the annual appropriations for the City of Auburn, which 
includes final figures for revenue, total appropriation and municipal budget. 
 

The school appropriation resolve has been incorporated into this annual appropriation resolve for the City of 
Auburn. 
 

Two readings are required for passage of this resolve. The second reading will be scheduled for the Council 
meeting on June 19, 2017. 

 
Advantages:  By Charter the annual appropriation resolve must be passed before the end of the current fiscal 
year. The public hearing allows public comment and the second reading will not take place for 2 weeks, which 
would allow enough time to make amendments if necessary. 
 
Disadvantages: None 

 
City Budgetary Impacts:  

 
Staff Recommended Action:  Staff recommends passage of the resolve on first reading. 

 
Previous Meetings and History: Budget presentation on April 24, 2017, various budget workshops in April and 
May. 

 
Attachments:  
Resolve for the 2017-2018 Annual Appropriation and Revenue 
Summary of Proposed Budget  
Summary of Estimated Non Property Tax Revenue 

 



4:13 PM 5/26/2017

Fiscal Year 2018 managers proposed budget summary with amendments 051017 1

COUNCIL DEPARTMENT MANAGER COUNCIL
ADOPTED PROPOSED PROPOSED ADOPTED
BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET
FY 16-17 FY 17-18 FY 17-18 FY 17-18 $ Change % Change

City Expenses
Operating Expenses 26,740,830 28,387,349 28,291,287 0 1,550,457 5.80%
Debt Service/TIF 9,231,648 9,151,336 9,416,336 0 184,688 2.00%
Intergovernmental 3,814,925 4,026,280 4,012,830 0 197,905 5.19%

Total City Expenses 39,787,403 41,564,965 41,720,453 0 1,933,050 4.86%
School Expenses

Operating Expenses 37,864,537 39,528,124 39,430,081 0 1,565,544 4.13%
Debt Service 2,878,831 2,325,374 2,325,374 0 (553,457) -19.23%

Total School Expenses 40,743,368 41,853,498 41,755,455 0 1,012,087 2.48%
Total Expenses 80,530,771 83,418,463 83,475,908 0 2,945,137 3.66%
Less: Non-Tax Revenues

City 13,248,577 13,746,184 13,746,184 0 497,607 3.76%
School 23,094,759 22,664,508 22,664,508 0 (430,251) -1.86%
Total Non-Tax Revenues 36,343,336 36,410,692 36,410,692 0 67,356 0.19%

Tax Levy
City 24,845,276 25,522,557 25,678,045 0 832,769 3.35%
School 17,648,609 19,188,990 19,090,947 0 1,442,338 8.17%
County 2,167,824 2,296,224 2,296,224 0 128,400 5.92%
Overlay

Total Tax Levy 44,661,709 47,007,771 47,065,216 0 2,403,507 5.38%
Total Assessed Value 1,998,286,739 1,998,286,739 1,998,286,739 1,998,286,769
Tax Rate

City 12.44 12.77 12.85 0.00 0.41 3.34%
School 8.83 9.60 9.55 0.00 0.72 8.20%
County 1.08 1.15 1.15 0.00 0.06 5.92%
Overlay 0.00 0.00 0.00%

Total 22.35 23.52 23.55 0.00 1.20 5.38%

 CITY OF AUBURN
FY 2018 EXPENDITURES

COMPARISON FY17 AND FY18 BUDGETS



4:13 PM 5/26/2017

2

COUNCIL DEPARTMENT MANAGER COUNCIL Increase
ADOPTED PROPOSED PROPOSED ADOPTED  (Decrease) Percentage of 
BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET from Prior Increase

CLASSIFICATION FY 16-17 FY 17-18 FY 17-18 FY 17-18 Year Budget  (Decrease)
Administration
City Clerk 177,906 181,332 181,332 3,426 1.93%
City Manager 378,880 472,670 581,170 202,290 53.39%
Finance 637,754 675,239 675,239 37,485 5.88%
Human Resources 150,435 159,435 156,887 6,452 4.29%
IT 479,324 652,551 531,551 52,227 10.90%
Legal Services 45,650 50,000 0 (45,650) -100.00%
Mayor & Council 78,464 80,300 80,300 1,836 2.34%

Total Administration 1,948,413 2,271,527 2,206,479 0 258,066 13.24%

Community Services
Health & Social Services
  Administration 73,696 77,400 77,400 3,704 5.03%
  Assistance 97,778 143,470 143,470 45,692 46.73%
Economic and Community Development 1,938,437 1,717,028 1,717,028 (221,409) -11.42%
Recreation & Special Events 341,772 390,581 388,581 46,809 13.70%
Public Library 979,516 998,189 998,189 18,673 1.91%

Total Community Services 3,431,199 3,326,668 3,324,668 0 (106,531) -3.10%

Fiscal Services
Debt Service 6,406,845 6,326,533 6,366,533 (40,312) -0.63%
Emergency Reserve 375,289 415,454 415,454 40,165 10.70%
Facilities 645,756 654,411 640,201 (5,555) -0.86%
Transfer to TIF 2,824,803 2,824,803 3,049,803 225,000 7.97%
Fringe Benefits 5,274,528 5,980,970 5,960,970 686,442 13.01%
Workers' Compensation 522,088 555,164 555,164 33,076 6.34%

Total Fiscal Services 16,049,309 16,757,335 16,988,125 0 938,816 5.85%

Public Safety
Fire 4,049,396 4,346,199 4,397,575 348,179 8.60%
Fire EMS Transport 590,997 578,828 538,828 (52,169) -8.83%
Police 3,875,113 4,043,998 4,043,998 168,885 4.36%

Total Public Safety 8,515,506 8,969,025 8,980,401 0 464,895 5.46%

Public Services
Public Services 4,496,349 4,617,296 4,611,116 114,767 2.55%
Solid Waste 932,689 964,118 964,118 31,429 3.37%
Water & Sewer 599,013 632,716 632,716 33,703 5.63%

Total Public Works 6,028,051 6,214,130 6,207,950 0 179,899 2.98%

 CITY OF AUBURN
FY 2018 EXPENDITURES

COMPARISON FY17 AND FY18 BUDGETS



4:13 PM 5/26/2017

3

COUNCIL DEPARTMENT MANAGER COUNCIL Increase
ADOPTED PROPOSED PROPOSED ADOPTED  (Decrease) Percentage of 
BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET from Prior Increase

CLASSIFICATION FY 16-17 FY 17-18 FY 17-18 FY 17-18 Year Budget  (Decrease)

 CITY OF AUBURN
FY 2018 EXPENDITURES

COMPARISON FY17 AND FY18 BUDGETS

Total Municipal 35,972,478 37,538,685 37,707,623 0 1,735,145 4.82%

Intergovernmental Programs
County Taxes 2,167,824 2,296,224 2,296,224 128,400 5.92%
Tax Sharing 270,000 270,000 270,000 0 0.00%
Auburn-Lewiston Municipal Airport 106,000 181,250 167,800 61,800 58.30%
Lew-Aub Transit Committee 182,244 189,949 189,949 7,705 4.23%
Lew-Aub 911 Communications Center 1,088,857 1,088,857 1,088,857 0 0.00%

Total Intergovernmental Programs 3,814,925 4,026,280 4,012,830 0 197,905 5.19%

Grand Total Municipal 39,787,403 41,564,965 41,720,453 0 1,933,050 4.86%

     Education Operation 37,864,537 39,528,124 39,430,081 1,565,544 4.13%
     Education Debt Service 2,878,831 2,325,374 2,325,374 (553,457) -19.23%
Total School 40,743,368 41,853,498 41,755,455 0 1,012,087 2.48%

Total Budget 80,530,771 83,418,463 83,475,908 0 2,945,137 3.66%



4:13 PM 5/26/2017

4

COUNCIL DEPARTMENT MANAGER COUNCIL Increase
ADOPTED PROPOSED PROPOSED ADOPTED  (Decrease) Percentage of 
BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET from Prior Increase

CLASSIFICATION FY 16-17 FY 17-18 FY 17-18 FY 17-18 Year Budget  (Decrease)

 CITY OF AUBURN
FY 2018 EXPENDITURES

COMPARISON FY17 AND FY18 BUDGETS

        Non-Property Tax Revenue
                             Municipal 13,248,577 13,746,184 13,746,184 0 497,607 3.76%
                             Education 23,094,759 22,664,508 22,664,508 0 (430,251) -1.86%
                             Total 36,343,336 36,410,692 36,410,692 0 67,356 0.19%

        Property Tax Dollars Needed
                             Municipal 27,013,100 27,818,781 27,974,269 0 961,169 3.56%
                             Education 17,648,609 19,188,990 19,090,947 0 1,442,338 8.17%
                             Total 44,661,709 47,007,771 47,065,216 0 2,403,507 5.38%

Property Tax Rate 22.35 23.52 23.55 0.00 1.20 5.38%
    Based on Assessed Values of : 1,998,286,739 1,998,286,739 1,998,286,739 1,998,286,739

Property Tax Rate
     Municipal Tax Rate $13.52 $13.92 $14.00 $0.00 0.48 3.54%
     Education Tax Rate $8.83 $9.60 $9.55 $0.00 0.72 8.20%

22.35 23.52 23.55 0.00 1.20 5.38%



5/26/2017

5

CITY OF AUBURN
FY 2018 REVENUES

COMPARISON FY17 AND FY18 BUDGETS

COUNCIL MANAGER COUNCIL Increase
ADOPTED PROPOSED ADOPTED  (Decrease) Percentage of 
BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET from Prior Increase

CLASSIFICATION FY 16-17 FY 17-18 FY 17-18 Year Budget  (Decrease)

General Government

Homestead Exemption Reimbursement                          750,000       1,015,000      265,000        35.33%

Personal Property Reimbursement 1,755,000    2,000,000      245,000        0.00%

Tree Growth Reimbursement 10,000         10,000           -                    0.00%

Veterans Reimbursement 18,000         18,000           -                    0.00%

CDBG Reimbursement -                    0.00%

In Lieu of Taxes                                         90,000         90,000           -                    0.00%

Excise Tax-Vehicles                                      3,330,000    3,775,000      445,000        13.36%

Excise Tax-Boats 15,000         15,000           -                    0.00%

Excise Tax-Aircraft 20,000         20,000           -                    0.00%

State Revenue Sharing                                    1,468,313    1,509,117      40,804          2.78%

Other State Aid                                          4,000           4,000             -                    0.00%

Penalties & Interest                                     150,000       150,000         -                    0.00%

Investment Income                                        10,000         32,000           22,000          220.00%

Interest from Bonds                                      -                   -                     -                    #DIV/0!

Transfer in from TIF 1,087,818    1,087,818      -                    0.00%

Transfer in from TIF Workforce Development 450,000       200,000         (250,000)       -55.56%

Transfer in from Parking Program -                    0.00%

Transfer in from Police Drug Money -                    0.00%

Transfer in from Recreation Special Revenue 54,718         54,718           -                    0.00%

Rental Income (Intermodal) 18,000         35,000           17,000          94.44%

Sale of Property                                         20,000         20,000           -                    0.00%

Tax Sharing Revenue                                      160,000       165,000         5,000            3.13%

Cable Television Franchise                               140,000       150,000         10,000          7.14%

Cable Television Franchise - City of Lewiston                             63,384         63,384           -                    0.00%

MMWAC Host Fees                                          210,000       215,000         5,000            2.38%

-                    0.00%

Reimbursement-Other -                   -                     -                    #DIV/0!

Utility Reimbursement 27,500         27,500           -                    0.00%

Unclassified 10,000         10,000           -                    0.00%

Fund Balance Contribution 825,000       412,500         (412,500)       -50.00%

Total General Government 10,686,733  11,079,037    -                        392,304        3.67%



5/26/2017

6

CITY OF AUBURN
FY 2018 REVENUES

COMPARISON FY17 AND FY18 BUDGETS

COUNCIL MANAGER COUNCIL Increase
ADOPTED PROPOSED ADOPTED  (Decrease) Percentage of 
BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET from Prior Increase

CLASSIFICATION FY 16-17 FY 17-18 FY 17-18 Year Budget  (Decrease)

City Clerk

Hunting/Fishing/Dogs                                     2,000           2,000             -                    0.00%

Neutered Animals                                         3,000           3,000             -                    0.00%

Voter Reg List                                           100              100                -                    0.00%

Clerk/Sale of Copies                                     100              100                -                    0.00%

City Clerk Notary                                        1,500           1,500             -                    0.00%

Banner Hanging Fee                                       3,000           3,000             -                    0.00%

Garage Sale Permits 3,200           3,200             -                    0.00%

Commercial License                                       40,000         50,000           10,000          25.00%

Taxi License                                             4,000           4,000             -                    0.00%

Marriage License                                         5,000           5,000             -                    0.00%

Birth/Death/Marriage Cert                                25,000         25,000           -                    0.00%

Permits - Burial                                         7,000           7,000             -                    0.00%

Fines-Dog                                                3,000           3,000             -                    0.00%

Total City Clerk 96,900         106,900         -                        10,000          10.32%

Finance

Reg - Vehicles                                           60,000         60,000           -                    0.00%

Total Finance 60,000         60,000           -                        -                    0.00%

Community Services-ICT

GIS/Data & Maps                                          20                20                  -                    0.00%

Total Community Services-ICT 20                20                  -                        -                    0.00%

Assessing

Maps & Copies                                            20                20                  -                    0.00%

Total Assessing 20                20                  -                        -                    0.00%

Health & Social Services

GA Reimbursement                                         59,000         95,000           36,000          61.02%

Total Health & Social Services 59,000         95,000           -                        36,000          61.02%



5/26/2017

7

CITY OF AUBURN
FY 2018 REVENUES

COMPARISON FY17 AND FY18 BUDGETS

COUNCIL MANAGER COUNCIL Increase
ADOPTED PROPOSED ADOPTED  (Decrease) Percentage of 
BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET from Prior Increase

CLASSIFICATION FY 16-17 FY 17-18 FY 17-18 Year Budget  (Decrease)

Planning & Permitting

Maps & Copies                                            500              500                -                    0.00%

Departmental Reviews 16,000         16,000           -                    0.00%

Planning/Codes & Ordinance                               -                    0.00%

Fire Alarm Inspections                                   29,000         29,000           -                    0.00%

Citation Ordinance                                       2,000           2,000             -                    0.00%

Advertising Costs 5,000           5,000             -                    0.00%

Lisbon Reimbursement for Services -                   -                     -                    0.00%

Permits - Building                                       100,000       100,000         -                    0.00%

CDBG Reimbursement for Services 254,127       214,430         (39,697)         -15.62%

Permits - Electrical                                     18,000         18,000           -                    0.00%

Permits - Plumbing                                       11,000         11,000           -                    0.00%

Permits - Sign                                           5,000           5,000             -                    0.00%

Total Planning & Permitting 440,627       400,930         -                        (39,697)         -9.01%

Parks & Recreation

Arena -                   -                     -                        -                    0.00%

Recreation Program                                       -                   -                     -                        -                    0.00%

Total Parks & Recreation -                   -                     -                        -                    0.00%

Community Services-Engineering

Fees - Eng-Misc                                          -                   -                     -                        -                    0.00%

Fees - Inspection                                        6,000           6,000             -                    0.00%

Fees - Drive Opening                                     200              200                -                    0.00%

Fees - Bid Documents 1,000           1,000             -                    0.00%

Permits - Fill                                           1,000           1,000             -                    0.00%

Permits - Street Opening                                 40,000         40,000           -                    0.00%

Total Community Services-Engineering 48,200         48,200           -                        -                    0.00%

Fire Department

Copies of Reports                                        200              200                -                    0.00%

Inspections -                   -                    0.00%

EMS Transport 1,250,000    1,250,000      -                    0.00%

EMS Agreement                                         -                   -                    0.00%

Salvage Calls                                            100              100                -                    0.00%

Permits - Oil Burner                                     800              800                -                    0.00%

Total Fire Department 1,251,100    1,251,100      -                        -                    0.00%



5/26/2017

8

CITY OF AUBURN
FY 2018 REVENUES

COMPARISON FY17 AND FY18 BUDGETS

COUNCIL MANAGER COUNCIL Increase
ADOPTED PROPOSED ADOPTED  (Decrease) Percentage of 
BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET from Prior Increase

CLASSIFICATION FY 16-17 FY 17-18 FY 17-18 Year Budget  (Decrease)

Police Department

Accident & Police                                        12,000         12,000           -                    0.00%

Court                                                    10,000         10,000           -                    0.00%

Photos & Tapes                                           3,500           3,500             -                    0.00%

False Alarms                                             12,000         12,000           -                    0.00%

Animal Impound 1,000           1,000             -                    0.00%

Veh Rel/Non Driver                                       2,000           2,000             -                    0.00%

Veh Rel/Driver Licence                                   13,000         13,000           -                    0.00%

ARRA Cops Grant 12,477         12,477           -                    0.00%

MDEA Reimbursement 71,000         170,000         99,000          139.44%

School Resource Officers -                   -                     -                    0.00%

Computer Crimes -                   -                     -                    0.00%

Permits - Alarms -                    0.00%

Permits - Firearms                                       4,000           4,000             -                    0.00%

Fines - Parking Violations                               65,000         65,000           -                    0.00%

Total Police Department 205,977       304,977         -                        99,000          48.06%

Public Works

Community Cords -                   -                     -                        -                    

State/Local Road Assistance                              400,000       400,000         -                    0.00%

Total Public Works 400,000       400,000         -                        -                    0.00%

Total Municipal 13,248,577  13,746,184    -                        497,607        3.76%



5/26/2017

9

CITY OF AUBURN
FY 2018 REVENUES

COMPARISON FY17 AND FY18 BUDGETS

COUNCIL MANAGER COUNCIL Increase
ADOPTED PROPOSED ADOPTED  (Decrease) Percentage of 
BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET from Prior Increase

CLASSIFICATION FY 16-17 FY 17-18 FY 17-18 Year Budget  (Decrease)

School Department

Reg Secondary Tuition                                    179,620       160,174         (19,446)         -10.83%

SOS Tuition                                              107,576       107,576         -                    0.00%

Adult Ed Tuition                                         93,300         93,300           -                    0.00%

State Subsidy for Education                              20,330,362  20,304,092    (26,270)         -0.13%

Debt Service Reimbursement                               1,042,975    641,790         (401,185)       -38.47%

PreK/CDS -                    #DIV/0!

Special Ed/Mainecare                                     135,000       135,000         -                    0.00%

State Agency Clients                                     53,350         70,000           16,650          31.21%

State Aid for Adult Education                            107,694       107,694         -                    0.00%

Miscellaneous                                            88,000         88,000           -                    0.00%

Daycare Rent 50,000         50,000           -                    0.00%

Fund Balance 906,882       906,882         -                    0.00%

Total School 23,094,759  22,664,508    -                        (430,251)       -1.86%

Total Non-Property Tax Revenue - Municipal 13,248,577  13,746,184    -                        (13,248,577)  -100.00%

Total Non-Property Tax Revenue - School 23,094,759  22,664,508    -                        (23,094,759)  -100.00%

Total Non-Property Tax Revenue 36,343,336  36,410,692    -                        (36,343,336)  -100.00%

Total Proposed Budget - Municipal 39,787,403  41,720,453    -                        (39,787,403)  -100.00%

Total Proposed Budget - School 40,743,368  41,755,455    -                        (40,743,368)  -100.00%

Total Proposed Budget 80,530,771  83,475,908    -                        (80,530,771)  -100.00%

Total Property Tax Dollars Needed - Municipal 26,538,826  27,974,269    -                        (26,538,826)  -100.00%

Total Property Tax Dollars Needed - School 17,648,609  19,090,947    -                        (17,648,609)  -100.00%

Total Property Tax Dollars Needed 44,187,435  47,065,216    -                        (44,187,435)  -100.00%



James Pross, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 
Robert Stone, Ward Two  Grady R. Burns, At Large 
Andy Titus, Ward Three  David C. Young, At Large 
Vacant, Ward Four 
 

Jonathan P. LaBonte, Mayor 
 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 
 

RESOLVE 03-06052017 
  

RESOLVED, that the following be, and hereby is the Annual Appropriation and Revenue 
Resolve of the City of Auburn for the fiscal year 2017-2018, which includes the amounts 
appropriated herein and revenues from all sources beginning July 1, 2017 and ending June 30, 
2018. 
 

The estimated aggregate amount of non-property tax revenue is $36,370,692 with a 
municipal revenue budget of $13,706,184 and a School Department revenue budget of 
$22,664,508. 
 
 The aggregate appropriation for the City of Auburn is $83,435,743, with a municipal 
budget of $39,384,064 County budget of $2,296,224 and a School Department budget of 
$41,755,455 which received School Committee approval on May 3, 2017, and school budget 
approved at the May 15, 2017 Council Meeting pursuant to the School Budget Validation vote 
on June 13, 2017, in accordance with Maine Revised Statues, Title 20-A § 1486 and based on 
the budget submitted to the Auburn City Council on April 24, 2017, by the City Manager, and 
notification was posted on the City of Auburn website on May 25, 2016 that a public hearing 
would be held on June 5, 2016 at 7:00 p.m. and said hearing having been held on that date, and 
as amended by the City Council, the same is hereby appropriated for the fiscal year 2017-2018 
beginning July 1, 2017 for the lawful expenditures of the City of Auburn and the County of 
Androscoggin taxes, and said amounts are declared not to be in excess of the estimated 
revenue from taxation and sources other than taxation for the fiscal year of 2017-2018. 

  
SCHOOL BUDGET ARTICLES 

 
1. That $16,591,502.00 be authorized to be expended for Regular Instruction; 
 
2.  That $ 9,384,055.00 be authorized to be expended for Special Education; 
 
3. That $-0- be authorized to be expended for Career and Technical Education; 
 
4.  That $ 1,006,460.00 be authorized to be expended for Other Instruction; 
 
5.  That $ 4,368,718.00 be authorized to be expended for Student and Staff Support; 
 



James Pross, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 
Robert Stone, Ward Two  Grady R. Burns, At Large 
Andy Titus, Ward Three  David C. Young, At Large 
Vacant, Ward Four 
 

Jonathan P. LaBonte, Mayor 
 

 

6. That $   889,000.00 be authorized to be expended for System Administration; 
 
7. That $ 1,448,614.00 be authorized to be expended for School Administration; 
 
8. That  $ 1,543,961.00 be authorized to be expended for Transportation and Buses; 
 
9. That  $ 5,448,310.00 be authorized to be expended for Facilities Maintenance; 
 
10. That $ 641,791.00 be authorized to be expended for Debt Service and Other 
commitments; 
 
11. That $    433,044.00- be authorized to be expended for All Other Expenditures; 
 
12. That $ 41,322,411.00 be appropriated for the total cost of funding public education 
from Pre-kindergarten to grade 12 as described in the Essential Programs and Services Funding 
Act and that  $16,165,086.00 be raised as the municipality’s contribution to the total cost of 
funding public education from Pre-kindergarten to grade 12 as described in the Essential 
Programs and Services Funding Act in accordance with the Maine Revised Statutes, Title 20-A, 
section 15688;  
 

Explanation:  The city’s contribution to the total cost of funding public education from 
Pre-kindergarten to grade 12 as described in the Essential Programs and Services 
Funding Act is the amount of money determined by state law to be the minimum 
amount that a municipality must raise in order to receive the full amount of state 
dollars. 
 

13. That $1,798,436.00 be raised and appropriated for the annual payments on debt service 
previously approved by the city’s legislative body for non-state-funded school construction 
projects or non-state-funded portions of school construction projects, in addition to the funds 
appropriated as the local share of the city’s contribution to the total cost of funding public 
education from Pre-kindergarten to grade 12 as described in the Essential Programs and 
Services Funding Act in accordance with Maine Revised Statues, Title 20-a,secito 15690 (2) ; 
 

Explanation:  Non-state-funded debt service is the amount of money needed for the 
annual payments on the city’s long-term debt for major capital school construction 
projects that are not approved for state subsidy. The bonding of this long-term debt was 
previously approved by the voters or other legislative body. 

 



James Pross, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 
Robert Stone, Ward Two  Grady R. Burns, At Large 
Andy Titus, Ward Three  David C. Young, At Large 
Vacant, Ward Four 
 

Jonathan P. LaBonte, Mayor 
 

 

14. That $898,691.00 be raised and appropriated in additional local funds for school 
purposes under the Maine Revised Statutes, Title 20-A, §15690 (3); 
 

Explanation:  The additional local funds are those locally raised funds over and above 
the city’s local contribution to the total cost of funding public education from Pre- 
kindergarten to grade 12 as described in the Essential Programs and Services Funding 
Act and local amounts raised for the annual payment on non-state-funded debt service 
that will help achieve the school department budget for education programs. 

 
15. That the school committee be authorized to expend $40,313,757.00 for the fiscal year 
beginning July 1, 2017 and ending June 30, 2018 from the city’s contribution to the total cost of 
funding public education from Pre-kindergarten to grade 12 as described in the Essential 
Programs and Services Funding Act, non-state-funded school construction projects, additional 
local funds for school purposes under the Maine Revised Statutes, Title 20-A, section 15690, 
unexpended balances, tuition receipts, fund balances, state subsidy and other receipts for the 
support of schools; 
 
16. That the City of Auburn appropriate $394,714.00 for adult education and raise 
$190,404.00 as the local share, with authorization to expend any additional incidental or 
miscellaneous receipts in the interest and for the well-being of the adult education program; 
 
17. That the City of Auburn raise and appropriate $38,330.00 for the services of Community 
Services-Crossing Guards. 
 
18. That in addition to amounts approved in the preceding articles, the school committee 
be authorized to expend such other sums as may be received from federal or state grants or 
programs or other sources during the fiscal year for school purposes, provided that such grants, 
programs or other sources do not require the expenditure of other funds not previously 
appropriated; 
 
19. In the event that Auburn School Department receives more state education subsidy 
than the amount included in its budget, the School Committee shall be authorized to use the 
additional state education subsidy to decrease the local cost share expectation, as defined in 
Title 20A, section 15671A(1)(B), for local property taxpayers for funding public education as 
approved by city. 

Recommended: Tax relief 100% 
 

 
 



James Pross, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 
Robert Stone, Ward Two  Grady R. Burns, At Large 
Andy Titus, Ward Three  David C. Young, At Large 
Vacant, Ward Four 
 

Jonathan P. LaBonte, Mayor 
 

 

We the Council of the City of Auburn adopt and approve the following items  
 
RESOLVED, that the following be, and hereby is the Annual Budget and Revenue 

Estimate for the City of Auburn Enterprise Fund – Norway Savings Bank Arena for the fiscal year 
2017 – 2018, which includes the amounts budgeted herein beginning July 1, 2017 and ending 
June 30, 2018. 

 
The Enterprise Fund-Norway Savings Bank Arena estimated amount of non-property tax 

revenue is $1,137,750. 
The Enterprise Fund-Norway Savings Bank Arena operating budget is $1,234,906 and 

capital budget is $53,500. 
 If the Enterprise Fund-Norway Savings Bank Arena has a deficit at the end of the fiscal 
year, this deficit will be covered by the General Fund and will be considered a loan to the Arena 
to be paid back in subsequent years. 
 

RESOLVED, that the following be, and hereby is the Annual Budget and Revenue 
Estimate for the City of Auburn Enterprise Fund – Ingersoll Turf Facility for the fiscal year 2017 – 
2018, which includes the amounts budgeted herein beginning July 1, 2017 and ending June 30, 
2018. 

The Enterprise Fund-Ingersoll Turf Facility estimated amount of non-property tax 
revenue is $212,170. 

The Enterprise Fund- Ingersoll Turf Facility operating budget is $191,385 and capital 
budget of $42,490. 

 
RESOLVED, The City is authorized to accept grants and forfeitures and to expend sums 

that may be received from grants and forfeitures for municipal purposes during the fiscal year 
beginning July 1, 2017 and ending June 30, 2018, provided that such grants and forfeitures do 
not require the expenditure of other funds not previously appropriated. 

 
RESOLVED, that fifty percent (50%) of all real estate taxes assessed as in the annual 

commitment, committed to the Tax Collector, shall be due proportionately from each tax payer 
on September 15, 2017 and the remaining fifty percent (50%) shall be due on March 15, 2018. 
 

Except as may be provided by resolve regarding payments in accordance with an 
installment payment plan, any real estate taxes remaining uncollected on September 16, 2017 
and March 16, 2018 respectively shall bear interest at a rate of 7% per annum from and after 
such dates. 
 



James Pross, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 
Robert Stone, Ward Two  Grady R. Burns, At Large 
Andy Titus, Ward Three  David C. Young, At Large 
Vacant, Ward Four 
 

Jonathan P. LaBonte, Mayor 
 

 

 Personal property taxes shall be due and payable on or before September 15, 2017. Any 
personal property taxes remaining unpaid on September 16, 2017 shall bear an interest rate of 
7% per annum from and after such date. Interest on all delinquent taxes shall be computed on 
a daily basis and shall be collected by the Tax Collector. The Tax Collector is authorized to 
accept tax prepayments. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Council deems it necessary to adopt a budget 
which exceeds the percent increase of the Consumer Price Index Urban as of December 31, 
2016, and hereby waives the provisions of Section 2-485 of the City Code of Ordinances. 
 
 



 

 
 
 

City of Auburn 
City Council Information Sheet 

 
 

 

Council Workshop or Meeting Date:   June 5, 2017   Ordinance: 06-06052017  
    
 
Author:  Douglas Greene, Urban Development Specialist, Economic and Community Development 
 
Subject:  Text Amendment to allow training, sales and service of equipment related to outdoor recreation in  
     the Agricultural and Resource Protection District 
 
Information:  The City Council reviewed a text amendment that would allow training, sales and service of 
equipment related to outdoor recreation in the Agricultural and Resource Protection (AGRP) district at a 
workshop at its May 15, 2017 meeting.  A snow grooming equipment company would like to construct a large 
building, parking and sales area at Lost Valley and showcase their snow grooming equipment.  The snow 
grooming equipment would be used for grooming the ski slopes and provide an opportunity for training, and 
displaying the equipment.  Currently, training, sales and servicing of machinery and equipment related to 
agriculture is allowed as permitted uses in the Agricultural and Resource Protection (AGRP) District, however, 
this type of use does not apply to outdoor recreation and, hence, is the impetus for the text amendment.   
 
During the May 15, 2017 workshop, the Council asked the staff to remove a condition that restricted the 
proposed use to properties over 100 acres.   

 
Advantages:  The text amendment would allow uses that are complementary to and that would enhance 
existing outdoor agricultural or recreational uses, but would limit the new use(s) to properties that are tied to 
an agricultural or recreational use that has been in existence for at least 5 years.   
Disadvantages:  The Planning Board will have to protect surrounding properties thorough its special exception 
and site plan review process. 

 
City Budgetary Impacts:  If approved the text amendment would create additional land and property value. 

 
Staff Recommended Action:  Approval and move to a second reading. 

 
Previous Meetings and History:  City Council initiation on 4/3/17 and PB recommendation on 5/9/17. The City 
Council discussed the text amendment at the 5/15/17 workshop. 

 
Attachments:  1.) Planning Board report from 5/9/11 PB meeting and associated background documents 2.) 
Revised draft text amendment based on City Council comments at the 5/15/17 workshop. 











 

 
 
 

City of Auburn 
City Council Information Sheet 

 
 

 

Council Meeting Date: April 3, 2017   Order: 31-04032017 
     
 
Author:  Michael Chammings, Director of Economic and Community Development 
 

 

Subject:  Agriculture and Resource Protection/Low Density Rural Residence Ordinance review for 

schools and equipment sales accessory to a recreational use. 

 

Information:  We have a unique opportunity to site a recreational equipment sales, assembly, 

service, testing and training facility adjacent to a recreational use in Auburn that would 

benefit an important community recreational asset.   
 

 

 
Advantages:  This would benefit an important community recreational asset, create taxable value, create 

“livable wage” jobs and attract international visitors to the city. 

 
Disadvantages: None.   

 
City Budgetary Impacts: None.   

 
Staff Recommended Action:  Approve the order.   
 

 
Previous Meetings and History: March 20, 2017 Council Meeting Executive Session. 

 
Attachments: Memo from Eric J. Cousens, Deputy Director of Economic and Community Development dated 
03/29/17 and Order.  

 

 





James Pross, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 
Robert Stone, Ward Two  Grady R. Burns, At Large 
Andy Titus, Ward Three  David C. Young, At Large 
VACANT, Ward Four 
 

Jonathan P. LaBonte, Mayor 
 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 
 

ORDER 31-04032017 
  
  ORDERED, that the City Council hereby directs City Staff to consult with the Planning Board 
and develop recommendations to increase the flexibility of the uses allowed in the Agricultural 
and Resource Protection District, which would allow existing large recreational users to 
undertake complimentary uses such as the sale of services, equipment, and supplies related to 
existing recreational uses, and to develop recommendations from the Planning Board for 
Council consideration. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

5/4/17 

  Page 1 

OPTION A  

DIVISION 2. - AGRICULTURE AND RESOURCE PROTECTION DISTRICT  

Sec. 60-144. - Purpose.  

The purposes of this district are to allow for conservation of natural resources and open space land, 
to retain vibrant recreational facilities within the City, and to encourage agricultural, forestry, and certain 
types of recreational uses as well as commercial uses that are reasonably related to agriculture or 
recreation. It is declared to be in the public interest that these areas should be protected and conserved 
because of their natural, aesthetic, historic, and scenic value, the need to retain and preserve open space 
lands, their economic contribution to the city, and primarily because these areas are so remote from 
existing centers of development that any added uncontrolled growth could result in an economic burden 
on the city and its inhabitants. This section shall be construed so as to effectuate the purposes outlined 
here and to prevent any attempt to establish uses which are inconsistent with these purposes or any 
attempt to evade the provisions of this division.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 3.31A)  

Sec. 60-145. - Use regulations.  

(a) Permitted uses. The following uses are permitted:  

(1) One-family detached dwellings, including manufactured housing subject to all the design 
standards, except the siting requirements of section 60-173, as set forth in article XII of this 
chapter, accessory to farming operations subject to the following restrictions:  

a. No certificate of occupancy shall be issued for any such farm residence until the barns, 
livestock pens, silos, or other such buildings or structures which are to be erected in 
connection with the proposed agricultural use as shown on the plans and specifications 
presented to the municipal officer charged with enforcement are substantially completed.  

b. In no case shall any farm residence constructed under the provisions of this section after 
the effective date of the amended ordinance from which this section is derived continue to 
be occupied as a residence if the principal agricultural use has been abandoned or 
reduced in scope below the minimum requirements as shown on the plans and 
specifications presented to the municipal officer charged with enforcement.  

c. Any residence constructed under this article shall not be converted to nonfarm residential 
use except by permission of the planning board based upon a finding that the 
abandonment or reduction in such use resulted from causes beyond the control of the 
applicant and not from any intention to circumvent the requirements of this article.  

(2) Buildings, equipment and machinery accessory to the principal use including, but not limited to: 
barns, silos, storage buildings and farm automobile garages.  

(3) Forest products raised for harvest.  

(4) Field crop farms.  

(5) Row crop farms.  

(6) Orchard farms.  

(7) Truck gardens.  

(8) Plant and tree nurseries.  

(9) Greenhouses.  



 

5/4/17 

  Page 2 

(10) Handling, storage and sale of agriculture produce and processed agricultural products derived 
from produce grown on the premises.  

(11) Livestock operations including poultry farms, cattle farms, dairy farms, stud farms, hog farms, 
sheep ranches, other animal farms, including farms for raising fur-bearing animals.  

(12) Wayside stands.  

(13) Two-family dwellings which are created from the conversion of a one-family dwelling structure 
which was constructed prior to 1900.  

(14) Assembly, sale, research and development, distribution, instruction, training, demonstration or 
maintenance of recreational or agricultural equipment, including buildings and accessory 
structures used in the assembly, sale, distribution, instruction, training, demonstration, or 
maintenance of recreational or agricultural equipment. 

(b) Special exception uses. The following uses are permitted by special exception after approval by the 
planning board in accordance with the provisions of division 3 of article XVII of this chapter:  

(1) Sawmills and their customary accessory land uses and buildings incidental to the harvesting of 
forest products, subject to the following conditions:  

a. Sawmill and accessory activity shall not be detrimental to the neighborhood or the city by 
reason of special danger of fire or explosion, pollution of rivers or perennial streams or 
accumulation of refuse.  

b. Wood processing operation shall be located no closer than 75 feet from any river or 
perennial stream, 250 feet from any zoning district boundary or residential dwelling and 
shall be limited to four persons employed.  

c. Where natural vegetation is removed, it shall be replaced within six months with other 
vegetation which will be equally effective in retarding erosion and will preserve natural 
beauty.  

(2) Veterinary hospitals, where operated by licensed veterinarians, including offices and facilities for 
temporarily boarding animals.  

(3)   Handling, storage and sale of agricultural services, equipment, and supplies accessory to the 
farming use.  

 (34) Bona fide residences required for farm labor. Any residence constructed for farm labor shall not 
be converted to nonfarm residential use except by permission of the planning board based upon 
a finding that the abandonment or reduction in such use resulted from causes beyond the 
control of the applicant and not from any intention to circumvent the requirements of this 
division. The findings and the conditions upon which such altered use may be continued shall 
be made a part of the permanent records.  

(54) Recreational uses of land intended or designed for public use subject to the following 
conditions:  

a. No such recreational use shall be expanded or extended so as to occupy additional land 
area greater than 20 percent of the original area or one acre, whichever is less; or by the 
construction of a structure or an addition to an existing structure by more than 900 square 
feet of additional floor space unless the owner or occupant first obtains approval of the 
planning board in the manner and upon the same terms as approvals of initial recreational 
uses.  

b. Any proposed new or expanded recreational use shall be completed on or before the 
estimated completion date except that the planning board may grant reasonable extension 
of time where good cause for the failure to complete is shown.  

(65) Any legally nonconforming summer camp or cottage may be rebuilt if destroyed by fire or other 
casualty, subject to the following conditions:  



 

5/4/17 

  Page 3 

a. Such reconstruction shall comply with all ordinances applicable to new construction. Such 
reconstruction need not, however, comply with zoning provisions which would otherwise be 
applicable except for the provisions of article XII of this chapter.  

b. In cases where no minimum setback is established by division 5 of article XII of this 
chapter an open yard space of at least ten feet between the building as reconstructed and 
each of the property lines shall be maintained.  

(76) Rifle, pistol, skeet or trap shooting ranges, public or private.  

(87) Cemeteries, subject to the following conditions:  

a. At least 20 acres in area.  

b. Not located in any environmental overlay district or over any known aquifer.  

(89) Municipal sanitary landfills, subject to the following conditions:  

a. Not located in any environmental overlay district or over any known aquifer.  

b. Provisions shall be made to avoid surface water and groundwater pollution.  

c. Provisions shall be made for frequent covering of deposited wastes with earth to 
counteract vermin, insects, odors, and windblown debris.  

(910) Radio, radar, television and radio telephone transmitting or broadcasting towers, but not 
studios or offices for such transmitting or broadcasting, provided that:  

a. Every such tower shall be installed in a location and manner that ensures its safe operation 
and the safety of the surrounding residents, building occupants, land uses and properties.  

b. In no case shall such tower be located less than one and one-half times its height from the 
nearest property line.  

(101) Wholesale nurseries, subject to the following conditions:  

a. At least one-half of the area of the lot (up to a maximum of three acres) is in active nursery 
production in a husband type manner.  

b. The plants and trees propagated, grown and nurtured in the nursery are used as the 
primary products by the owner/operator of the landscape service.  

(112) Processing and storage of compost and bulking agents from the municipal wastewater 
sewerage sludge facilities provided that:  

a. All compost and amendments are to be stored undercover or screened from the public way 
and abutting property as determined by the planning board.  

b. All federal, state and local ordinances and laws relating to the processing and storage of 
waste are complied with.  

c. An end-use plan must be filed as part of the planning board process.  

(132) Licensed hospice care facility provided that it shall be licensed by the state as a Medicare 
certificate hospice.  

(143) Slaughterhouse, stockyard, abattoir, dressing plant in compliance with state and federal 
regulations subject to the following conditions:  

a. The facility shall not be located within the Lake Auburn Watershed Overlay District, the 
Watershed of Taylor Pond, the Shoreland Overlay District or the Floodplain Overlay 
District.  

b. The proposed use shall not occupy more than 10,000 square feet of building area.  

c. The number of employees shall be limited to not more than 15.  



 

5/4/17 

  Page 4 

d. Accessory retail sales shall be limited to 10 percent of building area or 1,000 square feet, 
whichever is smaller.  

e. Hours of operation shall limited to between 6 a.m. and 8 p.m.  

(145) Compost operations, excluding municipal and industrial waste, to process products such 
as manure, bedding, animal mortalities, waste feed, produce, forestry by-products, leaves and 
yard trimmings in compliance with state and federal regulations, subject to the following 
conditions:  

a. All compost sites shall be evaluated for suitability by a properly qualified professional, 
including benchmark water testing prior to approval.  

b. Provisions shall be made to avoid surface and groundwater pollution.  

c. Provisions shall be made to counteract vermin, insects and odors.  

d. Must comply with all applicable state department of environmental protection and state 
department of agriculture rules and regulations and best management practices.  

e. Shall not be located within the Lake Auburn Watershed Overlay District.  

 

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 3.31B; Ord. No. 32-02072011-07, 2-7-2011; Ord. No. 06-08012011-07, 8-

1-2011)  

Sec. 60-146. - Dimensional regulations.  

All structures in this district, except as noted shall be subject to the following dimensional regulations:  

(1) Minimum lot area, width and depth. No lot shall be created and/or no building shall be erected 
on a lot containing less than ten acres, exclusive of any bodies of water having a surface area 
of one-fourth of an acre or more, and measuring not less than 250 feet in width at the street 
frontage, and 200 feet in depth.  

a. A building may be erected on a lot containing not less than 50,000 square feet and 
possessing the required minimum frontage width provided it is contiguous with other lots or 
parcels of land in the same ownership containing an aggregate of not less than ten acres; 
notwithstanding the separation of the said other lots or parcels of land by a road, stream, 
private right-of-way or other natural boundary from the lot on which the building is to be 
constructed. This section shall not be construed to prevent the construction of 
nonresidential accessory farm buildings on any such lot.  

b. On legally nonconforming undersized lots, the keeping of horses, mules, cows, goats, 
sheep, hogs, and similar sized animals for domestic use of the residents of the lot is 
permitted provided that the land area required per animal unit conforms to the definition of 
animal farm contained in section 60-2.  

(2) Density. The density of yearround dwelling units shall not exceed an average of one dwelling 
per ten acres.  

(3) Yard requirements.  

a. Rear. There shall be behind every building a rear yard having a minimum depth of 25 feet.  

b. Side. There shall be a minimum distance of 15 feet between any building and the side 
property line.  

c. Front. There shall be in front of every building a front yard having a minimum depth of 25 
feet or 25 percent of the average depth of the lot whichever is less.  



 

5/4/17 

  Page 5 

(4) Height. The height of all dwelling structures shall be limited to two and one-half stories of 35 feet 
in height. Accessory buildings and structures may have a maximum height of 65 feet from 
grade, provided that the front yard, rear yard and each of the side yards shall be increased by 
one foot for each foot in height in excess of 35 feet.  

(5) Off-street parking. Off-street parking spaces shall be provided in accordance with the 
requirements for specific uses as set forth in articles V through XI of this chapter.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 3.31C)  

Secs. 60-147—60-199. - Reserved.  

 

OPTION B 

 

DIVISION 2. - AGRICULTURE AND RESOURCE PROTECTION DISTRICT  

Sec. 60-144. - Purpose.  

The purposes of this district are to allow for conservation of natural resources and open space land, 
to retain vibrant recreational facilities within the City, and to encourage agricultural, forestry, and certain 
types of recreational uses as well as commercial uses that are reasonably related to agriculture or 
recreation. It is declared to be in the public interest that these areas should be protected and conserved 
because of their natural, aesthetic, historic, and scenic value, the need to retain and preserve open space 
lands, their economic contribution to the city, and primarily because these areas are so remote from 
existing centers of development that any added uncontrolled growth could result in an economic burden 
on the city and its inhabitants. This section shall be construed so as to effectuate the purposes outlined 
here and to prevent any attempt to establish uses which are inconsistent with these purposes or any 
attempt to evade the provisions of this division.  

 

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 3.31A)  

Sec. 60-145. - Use regulations.  

(a) Permitted uses. The following uses are permitted:  

(1) One-family detached dwellings, including manufactured housing subject to all the design 
standards, except the siting requirements of section 60-173, as set forth in article XII of this 
chapter, accessory to farming operations subject to the following restrictions:  

a. No certificate of occupancy shall be issued for any such farm residence until the barns, 
livestock pens, silos, or other such buildings or structures which are to be erected in 
connection with the proposed agricultural use as shown on the plans and specifications 
presented to the municipal officer charged with enforcement are substantially completed.  

b. In no case shall any farm residence constructed under the provisions of this section after 
the effective date of the amended ordinance from which this section is derived continue to 
be occupied as a residence if the principal agricultural use has been abandoned or 



 

5/4/17 

  Page 6 

reduced in scope below the minimum requirements as shown on the plans and 
specifications presented to the municipal officer charged with enforcement.  

c. Any residence constructed under this article shall not be converted to nonfarm residential 
use except by permission of the planning board based upon a finding that the 
abandonment or reduction in such use resulted from causes beyond the control of the 
applicant and not from any intention to circumvent the requirements of this article.  

(2) Buildings, equipment, and machinery accessory to the principal use including, but not limited to: 
barns, silos, storage buildings and farm automobile garages.   

(3) Forest products raised for harvest.  

(4) Field crop farms.  

(5) Row crop farms.  

(6) Orchard farms.  

(7) Truck gardens.  

(8) Plant and tree nurseries.  

(9) Greenhouses.  

(10) Handling, storage and sale of agriculture produce and processed agricultural products derived 
from produce grown on the premises.  

(11) Livestock operations including poultry farms, cattle farms, dairy farms, stud farms, hog farms, 
sheep ranches, other animal farms, including farms for raising fur-bearing animals.  

(12) Wayside stands.  

(13) Two-family dwellings which are created from the conversion of a one-family dwelling structure 
which was constructed prior to 1900.  

(14) Assembly, sale, research and development, distribution, instruction, training, demonstration or 
maintenance of recreational or agricultural equipment, including buildings and accessory 
structures used in the assembly, sale, distribution, instruction, training, demonstration, or 
maintenance of recreational or agricultural equipment. 

(b) Special exception uses. The following uses are permitted by special exception after approval by the 
planning board in accordance with the provisions of division 3 of article XVII of this chapter:  

(1) Sawmills and their customary accessory land uses and buildings incidental to the harvesting of 
forest products, subject to the following conditions:  

a. Sawmill and accessory activity shall not be detrimental to the neighborhood or the city by 
reason of special danger of fire or explosion, pollution of rivers or perennial streams or 
accumulation of refuse.  

b. Wood processing operation shall be located no closer than 75 feet from any river or 
perennial stream, 250 feet from any zoning district boundary or residential dwelling and 
shall be limited to four persons employed.  

c. Where natural vegetation is removed, it shall be replaced within six months with other 
vegetation which will be equally effective in retarding erosion and will preserve natural 
beauty.  

(2) Veterinary hospitals, where operated by licensed veterinarians, including offices and facilities for 
temporarily boarding animals.  

(3)   Handling, storage and sale of agricultural services, equipment, and supplies accessory to the 
farming use. [MM1] 



 

5/4/17 

  Page 7 

 (34) Bona fide residences required for farm labor. Any residence constructed for farm labor shall not 
be converted to nonfarm residential use except by permission of the planning board based upon 
a finding that the abandonment or reduction in such use resulted from causes beyond the 
control of the applicant and not from any intention to circumvent the requirements of this 
division. The findings and the conditions upon which such altered use may be continued shall 
be made a part of the permanent records.  

(54) Recreational uses of land intended or designed for public use subject to the following 
conditions:  

a. No such recreational use shall be expanded or extended so as to occupy additional land 
area greater than 20 percent of the original area or one acre, whichever is less; or by the 
construction of a structure or an addition to an existing structure by more than 900 square 
feet of additional floor space unless the owner or occupant first obtains approval of the 
planning board in the manner and upon the same terms as approvals of initial recreational 
uses.  

b. Any proposed new or expanded recreational use shall be completed on or before the 
estimated completion date except that the planning board may grant reasonable extension 
of time where good cause for the failure to complete is shown.  

(65) Any legally nonconforming summer camp or cottage may be rebuilt if destroyed by fire or other 
casualty, subject to the following conditions:  

a. Such reconstruction shall comply with all ordinances applicable to new construction. Such 
reconstruction need not, however, comply with zoning provisions which would otherwise be 
applicable except for the provisions of article XII of this chapter.  

b. In cases where no minimum setback is established by division 5 of article XII of this 
chapter an open yard space of at least ten feet between the building as reconstructed and 
each of the property lines shall be maintained.  

(76) Rifle, pistol, skeet or trap shooting ranges, public or private.  

(87) Cemeteries, subject to the following conditions:  

a. At least 20 acres in area.  

b. Not located in any environmental overlay district or over any known aquifer.  

(89) Municipal sanitary landfills, subject to the following conditions:  

a. Not located in any environmental overlay district or over any known aquifer.  

b. Provisions shall be made to avoid surface water and groundwater pollution.  

c. Provisions shall be made for frequent covering of deposited wastes with earth to 
counteract vermin, insects, odors, and windblown debris.  

(910) Radio, radar, television and radio telephone transmitting or broadcasting towers, but not 
studios or offices for such transmitting or broadcasting, provided that:  

a. Every such tower shall be installed in a location and manner that ensures its safe operation 
and the safety of the surrounding residents, building occupants, land uses and properties.  

b. In no case shall such tower be located less than one and one-half times its height from the 
nearest property line.  

(101) Wholesale nurseries, subject to the following conditions:  

a. At least one-half of the area of the lot (up to a maximum of three acres) is in active nursery 
production in a husband type manner.  

b. The plants and trees propagated, grown and nurtured in the nursery are used as the 
primary products by the owner/operator of the landscape service.  



 

5/4/17 

  Page 8 

(112) Processing and storage of compost and bulking agents from the municipal wastewater 
sewerage sludge facilities provided that:  

a. All compost and amendments are to be stored undercover or screened from the public way 
and abutting property as determined by the planning board.  

b. All federal, state and local ordinances and laws relating to the processing and storage of 
waste are complied with.  

c. An end-use plan must be filed as part of the planning board process.  

(132) Licensed hospice care facility provided that it shall be licensed by the state as a Medicare 
certificate hospice.  

(143) Slaughterhouse, stockyard, abattoir, dressing plant in compliance with state and federal 
regulations subject to the following conditions:  

a. The facility shall not be located within the Lake Auburn Watershed Overlay District, the 
Watershed of Taylor Pond, the Shoreland Overlay District or the Floodplain Overlay 
District.  

b. The proposed use shall not occupy more than 10,000 square feet of building area.  

c. The number of employees shall be limited to not more than 15.  

d. Accessory retail sales shall be limited to 10 percent of building area or 1,000 square feet, 
whichever is smaller.  

e. Hours of operation shall limited to between 6 a.m. and 8 p.m.  

(145) Compost operations, excluding municipal and industrial waste, to process products such 
as manure, bedding, animal mortalities, waste feed, produce, forestry by-products, leaves and 
yard trimmings in compliance with state and federal regulations, subject to the following 
conditions:  

a. All compost sites shall be evaluated for suitability by a properly qualified professional, 
including benchmark water testing prior to approval.  

b. Provisions shall be made to avoid surface and groundwater pollution.  

c. Provisions shall be made to counteract vermin, insects and odors.  

d. Must comply with all applicable state department of environmental protection and state 
department of agriculture rules and regulations and best management practices.  

e. Shall not be located within the Lake Auburn Watershed Overlay District.  

(16) Assembly, sale, research and development, distribution, instruction, training, demonstration or 
maintenance of recreational or agricultural equipment, including buildings and accessory structures 
used in the assembly, sale, distribution, instruction, training, demonstration, or maintenance of 
recreational or agricultural equipment. 

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 3.31B; Ord. No. 32-02072011-07, 2-7-2011; Ord. No. 06-08012011-07, 8-

1-2011)  

Sec. 60-146. - Dimensional regulations.  

All structures in this district, except as noted shall be subject to the following dimensional regulations:  

(1) Minimum lot area, width and depth. No lot shall be created and/or no building shall be erected 
on a lot containing less than ten acres, exclusive of any bodies of water having a surface area 
of one-fourth of an acre or more, and measuring not less than 250 feet in width at the street 
frontage, and 200 feet in depth.  



 

5/4/17 

  Page 9 

a. A building may be erected on a lot containing not less than 50,000 square feet and 
possessing the required minimum frontage width provided it is contiguous with other lots or 
parcels of land in the same ownership containing an aggregate of not less than ten acres; 
notwithstanding the separation of the said other lots or parcels of land by a road, stream, 
private right-of-way or other natural boundary from the lot on which the building is to be 
constructed. This section shall not be construed to prevent the construction of 
nonresidential accessory farm buildings on any such lot.  

b. On legally nonconforming undersized lots, the keeping of horses, mules, cows, goats, 
sheep, hogs, and similar sized animals for domestic use of the residents of the lot is 
permitted provided that the land area required per animal unit conforms to the definition of 
animal farm contained in section 60-2.  

(2) Density. The density of year round dwelling units shall not exceed an average of one dwelling 
per ten acres.  

(3) Yard requirements.  

a. Rear. There shall be behind every building a rear yard having a minimum depth of 25 feet.  

b. Side. There shall be a minimum distance of 15 feet between any building and the side 
property line.  

c. Front. There shall be in front of every building a front yard having a minimum depth of 25 
feet or 25 percent of the average depth of the lot whichever is less.  

(4) Height. The height of all dwelling structures shall be limited to two and one-half stories of 35 feet 
in height. Accessory buildings and structures may have a maximum height of 65 feet from 
grade, provided that the front yard, rear yard and each of the side yards shall be increased by 
one foot for each foot in height in excess of 35 feet.  

(5) Off-street parking. Off-street parking spaces shall be provided in accordance with the 
requirements for specific uses as set forth in articles V through XI of this chapter.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 3.31C)  

Secs. 60-147—60-199. - Reserved.  

 



 

 

  Page 1 

DIVISION 2. - AGRICULTURE AND RESOURCE PROTECTION DISTRICT  

 

Sec. 60-144. - Purpose.  

The purposes of this district are to allow for conservation of natural resources and open space land, 
and to encourage agricultural, forestry, and certain types of recreational uses. It is declared to be in the 
public interest that these areas should be protected and conserved because of their natural, aesthetic and 
scenic value, the need to retain and preserve open space lands, their economic contribution to the city, 
and primarily because these areas are so remote from existing centers of development that any added 
uncontrolled growth could result in an economic burden on the city and its inhabitants. This section shall 
be construed so as to effectuate the purposes outline here and to prevent any attempt to establish uses 
which are inconsistent with these purposes or any attempt to evade the provisions of this division.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 3.31A)  

Sec. 60-145. - Use regulations.  

(a) Permitted uses. The following uses are permitted:  

(1) One-family detached dwellings, including manufactured housing subject to all the design 
standards, except the siting requirements of section 60-173, as set forth in article XII of this 
chapter, accessory to farming operations subject to the following restrictions:  

a. No certificate of occupancy shall be issued for any such farm residence until the barns, 
livestock pens, silos, or other such buildings or structures which are to be erected in 
connection with the proposed agricultural use as shown on the plans and specifications 
presented to the municipal officer charged with enforcement are substantially completed.  

b. In no case shall any farm residence constructed under the provisions of this section after 
the effective date of the amended ordinance from which this section is derived continue to 
be occupied as a residence if the principal agricultural use has been abandoned or 
reduced in scope below the minimum requirements as shown on the plans and 
specifications presented to the municipal officer charged with enforcement.  

c. Any residence constructed under this article shall not be converted to nonfarm residential 
use except by permission of the planning board based upon a finding that the 
abandonment or reduction in such use resulted from causes beyond the control of the 
applicant and not from any intention to circumvent the requirements of this article.  

(2) Buildings, equipment and machinery accessory to the principal use including, but not limited to: 
barns silos, storage buildings and farm automobile garages.  

(3) Forest products raised for harvest.  

(4) Field crop farms.  

(5) Row crop farms.  

(6) Orchard farms.  

(7) Truck gardens.  

(8) Plant and tree nurseries.  

(9) Greenhouses.  

(10) Handling, storage and sale of agriculture produce and processed agricultural products derived 
from produce grown on the premises.  



 

 

  Page 2 

(11) Livestock operations including poultry farms, cattle farms, dairy farms, stud farms, hog farms, 
sheep ranches, other animal farms, including farms for raising fur-bearing animals.  

(12) Wayside stands.  

(13) Two-family dwellings which are created from the conversion of a one-family dwelling structure 
which was constructed prior to 1900.  

(b) Special exception uses. The following uses are permitted by special exception after approval by the 
planning board in accordance with the provisions of division 3 of article XVII of this chapter:  

(1) Sawmills and their customary accessory land uses and buildings incidental to the harvesting of 
forest products, subject to the following conditions:  

a. Sawmill and accessory activity shall not be detrimental to the neighborhood or the city by 
reason of special danger of fire or explosion, pollution of rivers or perennial streams or 
accumulation of refuse.  

b. Wood processing operation shall be located no closer than 75 feet from any river or 
perennial stream, 250 feet from any zoning district boundary or residential dwelling and 
shall be limited to four persons employed.  

c. Where natural vegetation is removed, it shall be replaced within six months with other 
vegetation which will be equally effective in retarding erosion and will preserve natural 
beauty.  

(2) Veterinary hospitals, where operated by licensed veterinarians, including offices and facilities for 
temporarily boarding animals.  

(3) Handling, storage and sale of agricultural services, equipment, and supplies accessory to the 
farming use.  

(4) Bona fide residences required for farm labor. Any residence constructed for farm labor shall not 
be converted to nonfarm residential use except by permission of the planning board based upon 
a finding that the abandonment or reduction in such use resulted from causes beyond the 
control of the applicant and not from any intention to circumvent the requirements of this 
division. The findings and the conditions upon which such altered use may be continued shall 
be made a part of the permanent records.  

(5) Recreational uses of land intended or designed for public use subject to the following 
conditions:  

a. No such recreational use shall be expanded or extended so as to occupy additional land 
area greater than 20 percent of the original area or one acre, whichever is less; or by the 
construction of a structure or an addition to an existing structure by more than 900 square 
feet of additional floor space unless the owner or occupant first obtains approval of the 
planning board in the manner and upon the same terms as approvals of initial recreational 
uses.  

b. Any proposed new or expanded recreational use shall be completed on or before the 
estimated completion date except that the planning board may grant reasonable extension 
of time where good cause for the failure to complete is shown.  

(6) Any legally nonconforming summer camp or cottage may be rebuilt if destroyed by fire or other 
casualty, subject to the following conditions:  

a. Such reconstruction shall comply with all ordinances applicable to new construction. Such 
reconstruction need not, however, comply with zoning provisions which would otherwise be 
applicable except for the provisions of article XII of this chapter.  

b. In cases where no minimum setback is established by division 5 of article XII of this 
chapter an open yard space of at least ten feet between the building as reconstructed and 
each of the property lines shall be maintained.  



 

 

  Page 3 

(7) Rifle, pistol, skeet or trap shooting ranges, public or private.  

(8) Cemeteries, subject to the following conditions:  

a. At least 20 acres in area.  

b. Not located in any environmental overlay district or over any known aquifer.  

(9) Municipal sanitary landfills, subject to the following conditions:  

a. Not located in any environmental overlay district or over any known aquifer.  

b. Provisions shall be made to avoid surface water and groundwater pollution.  

c. Provisions shall be made for frequent covering of deposited wastes with earth to 
counteract vermin, insects, odors, and windblown debris.  

(10) Radio, radar, television and radio telephone transmitting or broadcasting towers, but not studios 
or offices for such transmitting or broadcasting, provided that:  

a. Every such tower shall be installed in a location and manner that ensures its safe operation 
and the safety of the surrounding residents, building occupants, land uses and properties.  

b. In no case shall such tower be located less than one and one-half times its height from the 
nearest property line.  

(11) Wholesale nurseries, subject to the following conditions:  

a. At least one-half of the area of the lot (up to a maximum of three acres) is in active nursery 
production in a husband type manner.  

b. The plants and trees propagated, grown and nurtured in the nursery are used as the 
primary products by the owner/operator of the landscape service.  

(12) Processing and storage of compost and bulking agents from the municipal wastewater 
sewerage sludge facilities provided that:  

a. All compost and amendments are to be stored undercover or screened from the public way 
and abutting property as determined by the planning board.  

b. All federal, state and local ordinances and laws relating to the processing and storage of 
waste are complied with.  

c. An end-use plan must be filed as part of the planning board process.  

(13) Licensed hospice care facility provided that it shall be licensed by the state as a Medicare 
certificate hospice.  

(14) Slaughterhouse, stockyard, abattoir, dressing plant in compliance with state and federal 
regulations subject to the following conditions:  

a. The facility shall not be located within the Lake Auburn Watershed Overlay District, the 
Watershed of Taylor Pond, the Shoreland Overlay District or the Floodplain Overlay 
District.  

b. The proposed use shall not occupy more than 10,000 square feet of building area.  

c. The number of employees shall be limited to not more than 15.  

d. Accessory retail sales shall be limited to 10 percent of building area or 1,000 square feet, 
whichever is smaller.  

e. Hours of operation shall limited to between 6 a.m. and 8 p.m.  

(15) Compost operations, excluding municipal and industrial waste, to process products such as 
manure, bedding, animal mortalities, waste feed, produce, forestry by-products, leaves and yard 
trimmings in compliance with state and federal regulations, subject to the following conditions:  



 

 

  Page 4 

a. All compost sites shall be evaluated for suitability by a properly qualified professional, 
including benchmark water testing prior to approval.  

b. Provisions shall be made to avoid surface and groundwater pollution.  

c. Provisions shall be made to counteract vermin, insects and odors.  

d. Must comply with all applicable state department of environmental protection and state 
department of agriculture rules and regulations and best management practices.  

e. Shall not be located within the Lake Auburn Watershed Overlay District.  

(16)  Assembly, sale, research and development, distribution, instruction, training, demonstration or 
maintenance of recreational or agricultural equipment, including buildings as accessory 
structures used in the assembly, sale, distribution, instruction, training, demonstration, or 
maintenance of recreational or agricultural equipment, subject to the following conditions: 

a. The proposed use is accessory, complementary, or otherwise related to a recreational or 
agricultural use; 

b. The recreational or agricultural use has been in existence for at least 5 years prior to the 
date of the application for the special exception; and 

c. The recreational or agricultural use is located on the parcel for which the special exception 
is requested or is adjacent to the property for which the special exception is requested. 

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 3.31B; Ord. No. 32-02072011-07, 2-7-2011; Ord. No. 06-08012011-07, 8-

1-2011)  

Sec. 60-146. - Dimensional regulations.  

All structures in this district, except as noted shall be subject to the following dimensional regulations:  

(1) Minimum lot area, width and depth. No lot shall be created and/or no building shall be erected 
on a lot containing less than ten acres, exclusive of any bodies of water having a surface area 
of one-fourth of an acre or more, and measuring not less than 250 feet in width at the street 
frontage, and 200 feet in depth.  

a. A building may be erected on a lot containing not less than 50,000 square feet and 
possessing the required minimum frontage width provided it is contiguous with other lots or 
parcels of land in the same ownership containing an aggregate of not less than ten acres; 
notwithstanding the separation of the said other lots or parcels of land by a road, stream, 
private right-of-way or other natural boundary from the lot on which the building is to be 
constructed. This section shall not be construed to prevent the construction of 
nonresidential accessory farm buildings on any such lot.  

b. On legally nonconforming undersized lots, the keeping of horses, mules, cows, goats, 
sheep, hogs, and similar sized animals for domestic use of the residents of the lot is 
permitted provided that the land area required per animal unit conforms to the definition of 
animal farm contained in section 60-2.  

(2) Density. The density of yearround dwelling units shall not exceed an average of one dwelling 
per ten acres.  

(3) Yard requirements.  

a. Rear. There shall be behind every building a rear yard having a minimum depth of 25 feet.  

b. Side. There shall be a minimum distance of 15 feet between any building and the side 
property line.  



 

 

  Page 5 

c. Front. There shall be in front of every building a front yard having a minimum depth of 25 
feet or 25 percent of the average depth of the lot whichever is less.  

(4) Height. The height of all dwelling structures shall be limited to two and one-half stories of 35 feet 
in height. Accessory buildings and structures may have a maximum height of 65 feet from 
grade, provided that the front yard, rear yard and each of the side yards shall be increased by 
one foot for each foot in height in excess of 35 feet.  

(5) Off-street parking. Off-street parking spaces shall be provided in accordance with the 
requirements for specific uses as set forth in articles V through XI of this chapter.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 3.31C)  

Secs. 60-147—60-199. - Reserved.  



 

 

  Page 1 

DIVISION 2. - AGRICULTURE AND RESOURCE PROTECTION DISTRICT  

 

Sec. 60-144. - Purpose.  

The purposes of this district are to allow for conservation of natural resources and open space land, 
and to encourage agricultural, forestry, and certain types of recreational uses. It is declared to be in the 
public interest that these areas should be protected and conserved because of their natural, aesthetic and 
scenic value, the need to retain and preserve open space lands, their economic contribution to the city, 
and primarily because these areas are so remote from existing centers of development that any added 
uncontrolled growth could result in an economic burden on the city and its inhabitants. This section shall 
be construed so as to effectuate the purposes outline here and to prevent any attempt to establish uses 
which are inconsistent with these purposes or any attempt to evade the provisions of this division.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 3.31A)  

Sec. 60-145. - Use regulations.  

(a) Permitted uses. The following uses are permitted:  

(1) One-family detached dwellings, including manufactured housing subject to all the design 
standards, except the siting requirements of section 60-173, as set forth in article XII of this 
chapter, accessory to farming operations subject to the following restrictions:  

a. No certificate of occupancy shall be issued for any such farm residence until the barns, 
livestock pens, silos, or other such buildings or structures which are to be erected in 
connection with the proposed agricultural use as shown on the plans and specifications 
presented to the municipal officer charged with enforcement are substantially completed.  

b. In no case shall any farm residence constructed under the provisions of this section after 
the effective date of the amended ordinance from which this section is derived continue to 
be occupied as a residence if the principal agricultural use has been abandoned or 
reduced in scope below the minimum requirements as shown on the plans and 
specifications presented to the municipal officer charged with enforcement.  

c. Any residence constructed under this article shall not be converted to nonfarm residential 
use except by permission of the planning board based upon a finding that the 
abandonment or reduction in such use resulted from causes beyond the control of the 
applicant and not from any intention to circumvent the requirements of this article.  

(2) Buildings, equipment and machinery accessory to the principal use including, but not limited to: 
barns silos, storage buildings and farm automobile garages.  

(3) Forest products raised for harvest.  

(4) Field crop farms.  

(5) Row crop farms.  

(6) Orchard farms.  

(7) Truck gardens.  

(8) Plant and tree nurseries.  

(9) Greenhouses.  

(10) Handling, storage and sale of agriculture produce and processed agricultural products derived 
from produce grown on the premises.  



 

 

  Page 2 

(11) Livestock operations including poultry farms, cattle farms, dairy farms, stud farms, hog farms, 
sheep ranches, other animal farms, including farms for raising fur-bearing animals.  

(12) Wayside stands.  

(13) Two-family dwellings which are created from the conversion of a one-family dwelling structure 
which was constructed prior to 1900.  

(b) Special exception uses. The following uses are permitted by special exception after approval by the 
planning board in accordance with the provisions of division 3 of article XVII of this chapter:  

(1) Sawmills and their customary accessory land uses and buildings incidental to the harvesting of 
forest products, subject to the following conditions:  

a. Sawmill and accessory activity shall not be detrimental to the neighborhood or the city by 
reason of special danger of fire or explosion, pollution of rivers or perennial streams or 
accumulation of refuse.  

b. Wood processing operation shall be located no closer than 75 feet from any river or 
perennial stream, 250 feet from any zoning district boundary or residential dwelling and 
shall be limited to four persons employed.  

c. Where natural vegetation is removed, it shall be replaced within six months with other 
vegetation which will be equally effective in retarding erosion and will preserve natural 
beauty.  

(2) Veterinary hospitals, where operated by licensed veterinarians, including offices and facilities for 
temporarily boarding animals.  

(3) Handling, storage and sale of agricultural services, equipment, and supplies accessory to the 
farming use.  

(4) Bona fide residences required for farm labor. Any residence constructed for farm labor shall not 
be converted to nonfarm residential use except by permission of the planning board based upon 
a finding that the abandonment or reduction in such use resulted from causes beyond the 
control of the applicant and not from any intention to circumvent the requirements of this 
division. The findings and the conditions upon which such altered use may be continued shall 
be made a part of the permanent records.  

(5) Recreational uses of land intended or designed for public use subject to the following 
conditions:  

a. No such recreational use shall be expanded or extended so as to occupy additional land 
area greater than 20 percent of the original area or one acre, whichever is less; or by the 
construction of a structure or an addition to an existing structure by more than 900 square 
feet of additional floor space unless the owner or occupant first obtains approval of the 
planning board in the manner and upon the same terms as approvals of initial recreational 
uses.  

b. Any proposed new or expanded recreational use shall be completed on or before the 
estimated completion date except that the planning board may grant reasonable extension 
of time where good cause for the failure to complete is shown.  

(6) Any legally nonconforming summer camp or cottage may be rebuilt if destroyed by fire or other 
casualty, subject to the following conditions:  

a. Such reconstruction shall comply with all ordinances applicable to new construction. Such 
reconstruction need not, however, comply with zoning provisions which would otherwise be 
applicable except for the provisions of article XII of this chapter.  

b. In cases where no minimum setback is established by division 5 of article XII of this 
chapter an open yard space of at least ten feet between the building as reconstructed and 
each of the property lines shall be maintained.  



 

 

  Page 3 

(7) Rifle, pistol, skeet or trap shooting ranges, public or private.  

(8) Cemeteries, subject to the following conditions:  

a. At least 20 acres in area.  

b. Not located in any environmental overlay district or over any known aquifer.  

(9) Municipal sanitary landfills, subject to the following conditions:  

a. Not located in any environmental overlay district or over any known aquifer.  

b. Provisions shall be made to avoid surface water and groundwater pollution.  

c. Provisions shall be made for frequent covering of deposited wastes with earth to 
counteract vermin, insects, odors, and windblown debris.  

(10) Radio, radar, television and radio telephone transmitting or broadcasting towers, but not studios 
or offices for such transmitting or broadcasting, provided that:  

a. Every such tower shall be installed in a location and manner that ensures its safe operation 
and the safety of the surrounding residents, building occupants, land uses and properties.  

b. In no case shall such tower be located less than one and one-half times its height from the 
nearest property line.  

(11) Wholesale nurseries, subject to the following conditions:  

a. At least one-half of the area of the lot (up to a maximum of three acres) is in active nursery 
production in a husband type manner.  

b. The plants and trees propagated, grown and nurtured in the nursery are used as the 
primary products by the owner/operator of the landscape service.  

(12) Processing and storage of compost and bulking agents from the municipal wastewater 
sewerage sludge facilities provided that:  

a. All compost and amendments are to be stored undercover or screened from the public way 
and abutting property as determined by the planning board.  

b. All federal, state and local ordinances and laws relating to the processing and storage of 
waste are complied with.  

c. An end-use plan must be filed as part of the planning board process.  

(13) Licensed hospice care facility provided that it shall be licensed by the state as a Medicare 
certificate hospice.  

(14) Slaughterhouse, stockyard, abattoir, dressing plant in compliance with state and federal 
regulations subject to the following conditions:  

a. The facility shall not be located within the Lake Auburn Watershed Overlay District, the 
Watershed of Taylor Pond, the Shoreland Overlay District or the Floodplain Overlay 
District.  

b. The proposed use shall not occupy more than 10,000 square feet of building area.  

c. The number of employees shall be limited to not more than 15.  

d. Accessory retail sales shall be limited to 10 percent of building area or 1,000 square feet, 
whichever is smaller.  

e. Hours of operation shall limited to between 6 a.m. and 8 p.m.  

(15) Compost operations, excluding municipal and industrial waste, to process products such as 
manure, bedding, animal mortalities, waste feed, produce, forestry by-products, leaves and yard 
trimmings in compliance with state and federal regulations, subject to the following conditions:  



 

 

  Page 4 

a. All compost sites shall be evaluated for suitability by a properly qualified professional, 
including benchmark water testing prior to approval.  

b. Provisions shall be made to avoid surface and groundwater pollution.  

c. Provisions shall be made to counteract vermin, insects and odors.  

d. Must comply with all applicable state department of environmental protection and state 
department of agriculture rules and regulations and best management practices.  

e. Shall not be located within the Lake Auburn Watershed Overlay District.  

(16)  Assembly, sale, research and development, distribution, instruction, training, demonstration or 
maintenance of recreational or agricultural equipment, including buildings as accessory 
structures used in the assembly, sale, distribution, instruction, training, demonstration, or 
maintenance of recreational or agricultural equipment, subject to the following conditions: 

a. The proposed use is accessory, complementary, or otherwise related to a recreational or 
agricultural use; 

b. The recreational or agricultural use has been in existence for at least 5 years prior to the 
date of the application for the special exception; and 

c. The recreational or agricultural use is located on the parcel for which the special exception 
is requested or is adjacent to the property for which the special exception is requested. 

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 3.31B; Ord. No. 32-02072011-07, 2-7-2011; Ord. No. 06-08012011-07, 8-

1-2011)  

Sec. 60-146. - Dimensional regulations.  

All structures in this district, except as noted shall be subject to the following dimensional regulations:  

(1) Minimum lot area, width and depth. No lot shall be created and/or no building shall be erected 
on a lot containing less than ten acres, exclusive of any bodies of water having a surface area 
of one-fourth of an acre or more, and measuring not less than 250 feet in width at the street 
frontage, and 200 feet in depth.  

a. A building may be erected on a lot containing not less than 50,000 square feet and 
possessing the required minimum frontage width provided it is contiguous with other lots or 
parcels of land in the same ownership containing an aggregate of not less than ten acres; 
notwithstanding the separation of the said other lots or parcels of land by a road, stream, 
private right-of-way or other natural boundary from the lot on which the building is to be 
constructed. This section shall not be construed to prevent the construction of 
nonresidential accessory farm buildings on any such lot.  

b. On legally nonconforming undersized lots, the keeping of horses, mules, cows, goats, 
sheep, hogs, and similar sized animals for domestic use of the residents of the lot is 
permitted provided that the land area required per animal unit conforms to the definition of 
animal farm contained in section 60-2.  

(2) Density. The density of yearround dwelling units shall not exceed an average of one dwelling 
per ten acres.  

(3) Yard requirements.  

a. Rear. There shall be behind every building a rear yard having a minimum depth of 25 feet.  

b. Side. There shall be a minimum distance of 15 feet between any building and the side 
property line.  



 

 

  Page 5 

c. Front. There shall be in front of every building a front yard having a minimum depth of 25 
feet or 25 percent of the average depth of the lot whichever is less.  

(4) Height. The height of all dwelling structures shall be limited to two and one-half stories of 35 feet 
in height. Accessory buildings and structures may have a maximum height of 65 feet from 
grade, provided that the front yard, rear yard and each of the side yards shall be increased by 
one foot for each foot in height in excess of 35 feet.  

(5) Off-street parking. Off-street parking spaces shall be provided in accordance with the 
requirements for specific uses as set forth in articles V through XI of this chapter.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 3.31C)  

Secs. 60-147—60-199. - Reserved.  



James Pross, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 
Robert Stone, Ward Two  Grady R. Burns, At Large 
Andy Titus, Ward Three  David C. Young, At Large 
Vacant, Ward Four 
 

Jonathan P. LaBonte, Mayor 
 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 
 

ORDINANCE 06-06052017 
  
BE IT ORDAINED, that the City Council, that Chapter 60, Zoning be amended as follows: 
 
ARTICLE IV, DISTRICT REGULATIONS, DIVISION 2 AGRICULTURE AND RESOURCE PROTECTION 
DISTRICT, Section 145, Use Regulations, (b) Special Exception Uses,  
 

(16) Assembly, sale, research and development, distribution, instruction, training, 

demonstration or maintenance of recreational or agricultural equipment, including 
buildings as accessory structures used in the assembly, sale, distribution, instruction, 

training, demonstration, or maintenance of recreational or agricultural equipment, 
subject to the following conditions: 

a. The proposed use is accessory, complementary, or otherwise related to a 
recreational or agricultural use; 

 
b. The recreational or agricultural use has been in existence for at least 5 years prior to 

the date of the application for the special exception; and 

 
c. The recreational or agricultural use is located on the parcel for which the special 

exception is requested or is adjacent to the property for which the special 
exception is requested. 

 
 



 

 
 
 

City of Auburn 
City Council Information Sheet 

 
 

 

Council Workshop or Meeting Date:   June 5, 2017  
 
 

Subject:  Executive Session 
 

Information: Discussion regarding economic development (New Auburn Project), pursuant to 1 M.R.S.A. 
Section 405(6) (C) with possible action to follow. 

 
Executive Session:  On occasion, the City Council discusses matters which are required or allowed by State law to be considered in executive session.  Executive 
sessions are not open to the public.  The matters that are discussed in executive session are required to be kept confidential until they become a matter of 
public discussion.  In order to go into executive session, a Councilor must make a motion in public.  The motion must be recorded, and 3/5 of the members of 
the Council must vote to go into executive session.  An executive session is not required to be scheduled in advance as an agenda item, although when it is 
known at the time that the agenda is finalized, it will be listed on the agenda. The only topics which may be discussed in executive session are those that fall 
within one of the categories set forth in Title 1 M.R.S.A. Section 405(6).  Those applicable to municipal government are: 
 

A. Discussion or consideration of the employment, appointment, assignment, duties, promotion, demotion, compensation, evaluation, disciplining, 
resignation or dismissal of an individual or group of public officials, appointees or employees of the body or agency or the investigation or hearing of charges or 
complaints against a person or persons subject to the following conditions:  

(1) An executive session may be held only if public discussion could be reasonably expected to cause damage to the individual's reputation or the 
individual's right to privacy would be violated; 

(2) Any person charged or investigated must be permitted to be present at an executive session if that person so desires; 
(3) Any person charged or investigated may request in writing that the investigation or hearing of charges or complaints against that person be 

conducted in open session. A request, if made to the agency, must be honored; and  
(4) Any person bringing charges, complaints or allegations of misconduct against the individual under discussion must be permitted to be present. 
This paragraph does not apply to discussion of a budget or budget proposal;  
 
B. Discussion or consideration by a school board of suspension or expulsion of a public school student or a student at a private school, the cost of whose 

education is paid from public funds, as long as:  
(1) The student and legal counsel and, if the student is a minor, the student's parents or legal guardians are permitted to be present at an executive 

session if the student, parents or guardians so desire;  
 
C. Discussion or consideration of the condition, acquisition or the use of real or personal property permanently attached to real property or interests 

therein or disposition of publicly held property or economic development only if premature disclosures of the information would prejudice the competitive or 
bargaining position of the body or agency;  

 
D. Discussion of labor contracts and proposals and meetings between a public agency and its negotiators. The parties must be named before the body or 

agency may go into executive session. Negotiations between the representatives of a public employer and public employees may be open to the public if both 
parties agree to conduct negotiations in open sessions;  

 
E. Consultations between a body or agency and its attorney concerning the legal rights and duties of the body or agency, pending or contemplated 

litigation, settlement offers and matters where the duties of the public body's or agency's counsel to the attorney's client pursuant to the code of professional 
responsibility clearly conflict with this subchapter or where premature general public knowledge would clearly place the State, municipality or other public 
agency or person at a substantial disadvantage;  

 
F. Discussions of information contained in records made, maintained or received by a body or agency when access by the general public to those records 

is prohibited by statute; 
 
G. Discussion or approval of the content of examinations administered by a body or agency for licensing, permitting or employment purposes; 

consultation between a body or agency and any entity that provides examination services to that body or agency regarding the content of an examination; and 
review of examinations with the person examined; and  

 
H. Consultations between municipal officers and a code enforcement officer representing the municipality pursuant to Title 30-A, section 4452, 

subsection 1, paragraph C in the prosecution of an enforcement matter pending in District Court when the consultation relates to that pending enforcement 
matter.  
 


	0  Agenda 6-5-2017
	1  Info Sheet - Creative Crosswalks
	1a  Creative Crosswalks Binder
	1 Creative Crosswalk Guidelines (51017)
	2 Mayors proposal Creative Crosswalks
	3 Complete Street Design . High Visibility Crosswalk
	4 Crosswalk Images

	2  Info Sheet Abatement
	2a  Bennett Council attachments
	3  CC workshop 6-5-17 AGRP RFP Summary INFO SHEET
	3a  CC Minutes Nov 7 2016
	3b  AGRP RFP FINAL w attach    3-15-17.docx
	3c  SFCGProposalCityofAuburn4.14.17
	3d  Crossroads Proposal 2017
	3e  AGRP Proposal Scoring
	4  Info Sheet 477 Minot Ave
	4a  477minotbu060517
	5  Info Sheet wftoNewaubmeeting
	5a  WorkForceDev Funding workshop Memo 6-5-17
	6  Info Sheet - Appointing Wardens and Ward Clerks
	6a  Order 41-06052017 Wardens-Ward Clerks
	7  Info Sheet omni circle
	7a  omniBU060517
	7b  Order 42-06052017 Omni Circle Order 6-5-17
	8  Info Sheet - NBRC 2017 Grant
	8a  NBRC Program Info for 2017
	8b  Resolve 02-06052017 NBRC GRANT
	9  Info sheet- 911 fund balance policy
	9a  Order 43-06052017 A  911 fund balance policy
	9b  LA911 Fund balance policy
	10  Info Sheet - Appt of Peter Crichton - AVCOG
	10a  Order 44-06052017 AVCOG Appt
	11  Minutes 5-15-2017
	12  Liberty Fest Event App
	12a  2017_GFP_Auburn map (2)
	12b  Sec._14_252.___Clerk_s_notification_to_council
	13  FY18 Summary of Proposed Budget 6 5 17a (3)
	Slide Number 1
	Tax Levy Increase
	Tax Levy 
	Homeowner Impact
	City Manager 
	Fire 
	Fire Overtime Analysis 
	FY 18 Expenditures w/ and w/o EMS
	EMS Comparison 
	Budget History of EMS Transport
	Budget Resources 

	13  Info Sheet FY 18 CIP Bonds 060517
	13a  Auburn FY18 CIP Bonds - public hearing notice
	13b  fy 18 go bond list
	FY 18  Bonds

	13c  Order 45-06052017 FY 18 CIP
	14  Info Sheet FY 18 CIP Reallocation of Bonds
	14a  Auburn 2018 reallocation notice of public hearing
	14b reallocation of bonds list
	FY 18 unallocated

	14c  Order 46-06052017 use of unallocated bond proceeds fy 18 CIP
	15  Info Sheet FY 18 CIP Other funds
	15b  other funds cip list
	FY 18 Other Funds

	15c  Order 47-06052017 authorizing use of TIF and EMS Capital reserve funds for FY 18 CIP Projects
	16  info sheet appropriation resolve fy 17-18
	16a  final fy 18 proposed budget 052617
	new summary
	Exp Summary
	Revenue

	16b  Resolve 03-06052017 FY 17-18 Appropriation Resolve
	17  Info Sheet Outdoor Rec Text Amd 6-5-17
	17a  PB Report Outdoor Rec Text Amd w attach  6-5-17
	17b  2017-06-5-17 Ag TA Changes
	17bb  2017-06-01-Ag Zone As Revised
	17c  Ordinance 06-06052017 Outdoor Rec Text Amend
	19  Executive Session Ec Dev



